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Our Companies and Brands

DIVISIONS

- radius

Fuel Solutions

Radius Fuel Solutions provides fuel payment cards for vehidle fleets. Offering
its own branded cards, cards from oil companies and white-label solutions,
Radius provides services to over a million card users globally.

OPERATING COMPANIES

Belgian Fuel Card NV

Carte Carburant Services SAS

Diesel Card Service BV

Diesel Card Ireland Limited

Diesel Card International Limited
Dieselkort Scandinavien AB
European Diesel Card Limited

Fuel Card Services International LDA
Fuel Card Services NV

BRANDS

UEf; fUElS fleetone
. truckone
Wvelocity
bunkerplus
E DC fuelplus

Q e-route dieseltracker

Multiple Card Systems A/S

Radius Business Solutions (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Radius Business Solutions (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd
Retail Card Services Limited

Servizio Carte Carburanti ltalia SRL
Tankkarten Service GmbH

Tarjeta De Servicios Hota Internacional SL

UK Fuels Limited

Uslugi Kart Paliwowych sp. zoo.

™, smartdiesel = bf C
e fleetpass
mEsS fleetcard

VELOS

Carporale
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Telematics Connect
Radius Telematics provides Radius Connect provides
user friendly software that mobile, fixed and a
tracks assets worldwide. range of hasted Voice

Praducts range from simple over Internet Protocol
positional trackers to complex {VolP) communications
muiti camera systems and fully  solutions to companies of
connected devices that pull all sizes.
data from a vehide’s electronic
management system.

Adam Phones Limited

CanTrack Global Limited {acquired April 2021)
Enhanced Vehicle Applications LLC

Frontier Telecom Limited

Joseph W. Burtey & Partners (UK) Ltd

Modus Group LLC (acquired May 2021)

Plant | Limited

Pure Communications UK Limited

Radius Connect Limited
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Insurance Solutions

Radius Insurance
Sotutions offers bespoke
policies for business
assets and vehicle fleets
using telematics to
improve driver safety and
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Electric Vehicles

Radius Electric Vehicles
is focused on e-mobility
through the provision of
charging units for either
business or home use
and access to charging

reduce the risk of claims. networks using cards

or mobile payment
mechanisms.

Radius Fleet Services Pty Ltd

Radius Telematics Limited

Rainbow Telecom Limited

Reliance IP Networks Limited
Sure-Track Europe Limited

T.S.1. {ireland Limited)

Trinity Maxwell Limited

UK Telematics Limited

Virtu Wireless LLC (acquired May 2021)

=N

) UK telematics

the burtey group

N .
Adam Phones A " NS

SURETRACK

frev

“Connectfleet () Chargepoint



¢ radius Contents

Key Facts................ 1
Financial Highlights ... e 2
Chief Executive's Statement........... . 3
1 STRATEGIC REPORT ... eceeecccviine e 7

1.1 Qur Business Model
1.2 Our Services

1.3 Our People 13
1.4 Sustainability 14
1.5 Review of the Year crmmiana 15
1.6 Financial Review 16
1.7 Key Performance indicators 17
1.8 Risks and Uncertainties 18
1.9 Section 172 Statement 19
2 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE........crrivvvinnnes 21
2.1 Directors’ Report 3
22 statement of Directors’ Responsibilities .....................24

3 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 25




Key Facts

We have been trading for over 30 years and are a leading service
provider to the fleet and logistics market.

N

Our solutions are delivered by more than 1,700 employees in 27 offices
across 18 countries

We prioritise investment in leading edge technologies — all of our services are web
enabled and Velocity, our customer portal, has over 140,000 regular users

Whilst our origins are in the fuel card industry, today nearly 25% of our gross profit
comes from non fuel related activities with this figure growing rapidly as customers
increasingly take multiple services from us

We have 1.2 million active fuel cards in issue, accepted at around 50,000
locations across Europe and Asia and we manage over 2.9 billion litres of fuel per
annum

Our corporate chargecard is accepted wherever the MasterCard® logo is displayed

Today we track aver 400,000 assets across 5 continents via our award winning
telematics solutions

Today over 120,000 mobile phone users utilise our leading edge connectivity
solutions and we support over 18,000 hosted connections

Our newest division is focused on e-mobility. its aim is to meet the changing
needs of our customers over the forthcoming years as the use of diesel and petrot
in transportation declines and various new technologies including greener fuel
sources grow in importance
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Financial Highligh

£2,203.9m

£2,203.9m

' 2019: £2.4888m.
2018: £2148.0m
2017: £1,818.0m

£170.5m

£170.5m

2019: £141.8m:
2018: £116.9m

2017: £97.4m

20118: £38.4m

2017: £39.6m

£91.1Tm

£219.2m

£219.2m

2018: £136.5m
2017: £1171m
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Chief Executive’s Statement

I thought 1 would start in a similar vein to last year with
an update of how Radius has been coping with the
canstant twists and turns of the Covid-19 epidemic.
Hopefully, in next year's report, 1 can start on a more
upbeat note after what has been a long and difficult
period and by which time the virus and its effects will be
much more in the rear-view mirror.

In last year's report | explained the itnpact of the ockdowns
which were imposed during the Spring of 2020 and the
antons we took 1o sateguard our errployecs and business
when further lockdowns were requiredin response to
rising cases later iy the year we took a very different
approach wherchy virtually no one was furlcughed or

made redundant. In fact, we did almost the opposite and
accelerared recrintiment, espedially in nur new relecoms and
isurance divisions. This meant that high levels of sales and
customer service performanre were maintained, putting

us i a really strong posdtion over the latest few monthe,
dunng which we have been achieving record tevels of new
cistomer wins across All thie divisions, This approacts was
also a significant factor contributing to our final resilt for
the year being at record levels for both gross profit (3% vear
onyear increasc} as well 3s adjusted FRITDA (14%) - 3 very
different seenario to the worst case we had tonsidered back
in Aprit 2070 These ovorall figures were helped by seve sl
af the ME&A transactions we completod whore we have
been working hoth 1o build the new dricions faster and aun
witden vur product offering.

RADIUS FUEL SOLUTIONS

Sa what's been happening in the core tuet business? [ thirk
the first thing to recognise is that this diision has proved

fo be moch more resitent thar we might have expecter,
and we feelin really gontd shape as week by week our rore
markets have returned more dosely 1o pre-Coud conditions

Overall fuelvolumes are now trading at oves 100% of thewr
pre Covid lovels, with Gurmary, Belginm and Haly already
sething new record highs which are comforrably ahead of
this year's budgoet, We are torecasting a toial volume uplift of
nearly 20% this yvear which will bring us back much closer to
our longer term projecnens

New customer wins 4re nuneing at record {ovels which
has been helped by the determmation of our ieams to
mairtamn begh levels of performarne e despire the market
dhsruption caused by Covid relared lockdowns, Indeerd,
many employeas Nave oreferred to come into the nffice
whore they get the buzz of the sales aimosphere and we
wot kedd hard therefore Lo croate g safe working enviconmont
for them We opened a now office in Berbnin Sehruary,
etfoctively doubling our footpnnt there, anrd are looking at
further nitasimiciore exparsion in Malaysis and Holland
e Ihe next 12 months where we are corently cdose to
capaniby

Margins have heen running on plan as we continuge (o sel

a ~trategy for growth where adding customer numbers

I Us asimporiant 45 growing volume given the Group's
move owards cross-sell and product imtepration Our site
retwirks have been avpacding i all our major countrnies
andin the LUK we rearhed an incredibie mulnstone recently
of 2,500 sites accepting our fuel cards thanss 1o the addinon
of nver 300 Sanshunys ~upermarkets anc 75 Motor [uets
Group wtes, vory differsor to e 14 truck stops | started

this busieess with 4l those years 4p0 We have madde lots

of other progress in [uel, ncluding a major rehrand in most
of v sinaller conntnes whate we are starung tominoduce
the Radus name andwe nave zlso re-launchad all the mdjor
product websites Allin sl s been 2 year of Strong progress
m spite of the market disruption and the team s wel placed
to builes on thiz snlid base aver the vear shead
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Chief Executive's Statement

RADIUS TELEMATICS

Fthought Ewouldd start with a challenge Lo anyane reading
this annual report, "Can you name g company anywhere

in the world thar has a range of telematics products bettor
than Radius™ | truly believe that we are building a globally
unigue set of software ard hardware solutions that can
providle world teading services across the broadest rarige of
customers and sectors. Telematics now describes sornething
so much more than vehide tracking. It can answer questions
such as " When does my van need a senace? , “Whao's faul
was the acadent that one of my drivers had this morningz”
“How can | reduce my Nsurance costs?, “How ¢an | prote-ct
my plant and equipment from theft?”, "Where are a patient's
physicdl medical records in a hospiial?”, ” How can | security
Lag alt 1y PCs and lapiops and keep control of where they
are? and many more.

After the year end we completed twe key acquisitions in this
division, the first being Canlrack, the UK's leading stolen
vehicle recovery telemmancs business. This has added some
unigue produces that can be rolled out across our wider
markets and gives us some important scale i the asset
management sector. The second s Modus, a US based
insuretech cormnpany with a unigue app used by severai of
North America's leading insurance companies. This product
looks perfect to help us move Radius more strongly into
thennsuretech arena as welt as being an entry level tracking
product that can be used in all our markets, espedially
where pnce or geography are challenging,

Our organic sales model has alse made significant progress
and cross-seliing o our fuel card customer base has been
the biggest drniver of growth with over 80% of new customers
iy our [Mer 1 markets having corne via this channel.

Operaticnally we rmade a lot ot ymprovements and are
now rmanaging the installation of over 10,006 pieces of
hargware & month which obviously needs rcbust systems
and processes, Brexit has caused some challenges with
the distribution of products in turope. These seem to have
cased a little in recent weeks although we are keeping
open the concept of a secondary distribution hub on the
continent. in the UK we have been centralising various
activinies thatindude testing, stocking and dispatch and
wie are Just about to press the butlon on a “state of the
art” warehouse and office Just a few hundred metres from
Radius Campus in Crewe which will give us a huge increase
N Capadity

wa have also tmade a ot of new serior hures both i the
technical and sales teams which will definiiely help us as we
contiriue our plan to bulld a global business that 1s at the
forefront of (s fredd.

RADIUS CONNECT

Our telecoms division has ween a lot of changes this year
as we continued to put the foundations in place from
which we can build a streng organic growth model. In
Northern Ireland we completed the acquisition of Total
Conned, a Vodafone strategic partner with aver 50,000
mobile connections, followed by Rainbow Communications,
the region’s feading independent operator in the fixed

line and hosted conneclivity space. This gives us a really
strong foorprint frorm which we ¢an build further and | am
pleased 1o say that we have just signed the lease on a new
city certre waterfront office in Beltast where we will be
ceimbining the cormnpanies into a new madern environmaent,
On the mainland we made an investment into Tariffcom,
one of the UK's leading suppliers of technolegy and pricing
comparison services to the telecoms industry. This will both
improve our go to market offer and alse the efficiency of
our sales engine as we continue 1o scale up our teams. In
March 2021 we bought Frontier Telecom, a Newcastie based
mobiie and hosted provider with a strong verticat in the
care home sector and we have several other acquisitions
in the pipeline, all of which bring sorne new product and
geographical strengths.

Cross selling is starting 10 enhance our growth with several
large wins at the top end of our customer portfolio as well
%5 a growing suc: o from the desk based teams. Building
the grganic madel in both mobile and hosted 15 very much
al the Lop ot our priority list and, as new sates build and we
work hard to reduce churn, ) am confident we wilt beina
strong position betore too long. We are currently working on
some M&A opportunifies in Germany, Belgium and Ireland
and { hope that by next year | can tatk about the Radius
Connect division as a wider Curopean business which will
puLL uUs in @ unigue rmarket position.
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RADIUS INSURANCE SOLUTIONS

The insurance divisian is about 10 nnderpo some
transformational changes with a signeficart acquisition we
should camplote i the next few weeks During the latess
12 months we (reated a new telesales gperation at nar
Sheffield office specifically aimed at cross selling to anr fuel
castomer base and it is the resulrs we have seen here that
have pushed us to acenterate our plans. New motor vehicle
policies have nisen Lo around 400 per mornith from less than
50 in the historie Burley business and eoriched renewal date
data from our central team i continuing to wmpraove ths
performance We are increasingly using telematics datas in
our engagemant with undenwriters ang the acquisition we
are working on has a strong dashcam and tracking based
offering for its custornears,

This division 15 obviously still sreall and at an early sfage n
#s Radius lileoycle bul  think there is enormious potennal

where we car become a disrupter in what has traditionaths
been guite 3 slow moving industry.

DIGITAL MARKETING

the world of digital marketing is one af the rmast rapidly
evolving parts of the economy and those corrpanies that
don't embrace ard investin this arca are g0ing 1o come:
under increasing pros: ure a= our bumsiness SME customens
start to hehave more like consumers. We launched
1COMPAano, our own Comparison website, iuse thren vesrs
ago and in the latest 12 months it fas accounted for over
0,000 of our teads This year wo oxpect thar number o
rise to 150,000 as we waden our product et improve our
content and work harder on qualifpirg the inmal l=ads or
aother products,

e have also rationalized and updated our mar diciona!
websites S0 we CAr concentrate our paid and arganc
search offorts on a smaller nurber of sites and once agan
here, lead numbers are nsing. Thare will e no rest inthr,
ared which 1s becormimg ever more technical and we wll be
investing further as it = a key differenyator for 2adigs in an
mereasingly comnetite [Ardscape.

CROSS SELLING

vou will have noticed me using the words “cross-sell” several
tirmes i the ahove sections and Hihonght now | would gut

2 little flash on the barces on ths stralegy snd what we are
dring with tata 1o mmprove our perfarmance and conversion
rales Hiretly, we have made a big step forward in the overall
quality ot the customer addross, conract and class of trade
infermation soross all our regions. Rigoroas new procedures
have been potin place (o aincan quahty as we see ths
data being the litetinod of the husiness and critical for

our ¢ nstomer segmentation. Secordly, we have set up a
new tearm "Auram” to oualify new information for eack of
aur customers, for exaraple, mobile phore fantract and w
insurance pohcy renewal dates, which are crvical additional
preces of information we need o be successiul in generating
teads for o new thwsions. We only started this progess last
November and already we have over 0% of our customers
qualified for hath these produdts n the UK which is where
oL greatest opporntunity oxsts. Althangh the biggess pan

ot aur work this year has heen directed 1owards our fuel
card bhase we have aluo begun this work n the now divisions
25 we want to have a romplete mode! no matter where the
customet has first interacteo with Radis fo make the most
of this data we have established a now central gronp within
our markeung toarm spacifically to monitor nerformance and
enhance the tarpeting as we ook 2 what range of products,
to which customoers and on oxactly what day should we
approach them. This s already pavipp, Zhidonds and over
the fast few months there has been a siep increase i our
new mobile phone cornections and new motor vehicke
policics that we can directly attribute to this new approach
We have a lof of work to do yet, but this area s going to get
much greater fors and investment gver the months ahean
and texpect us o make some dramalic improvements
which will feed thraugh into the numbers. E

Our Velot iy custorner portal s going to be a critical elerment
in ihe overall cross-sell straregy and tnmarely, we want

fo i 0Nt 3 market place where custorrers can both
aceeas products ard services and learn more about other
Radius offerings. We have alreadv mace several steps i

this direcunn and developerd new markening pages, hannors
and other collateral whidh is driving lead numbers up, These
leads hava the highest conversior rate of any we receve
across all channgls which is why we are now starting a trial
with 2 new "Radive Bow 1o ergage with more ot anr users as
they corme to Velooly (0 pick UR an invoics or run a renors.
We have lots of wark fo do to integrate entr new divisions
andg arquisitiors into the portal and it will take time, Hur
sitimately will be cruoal in how we nrojeet the Rachos Tarmily
af seraces wirk our custamars

Weo have also made a deasior on fingre (RM where
Salesforcens going o horame o frant erd tool 1o

zoth ford leards 1o he satos reamys bt sluo prowvice
nchonformanor te heip themr improve their customer
SRESERMaNt a5 more and more customers bacome muts-
service users This has alresdy boon ralled it across
telecoms and msurance with telermatics and e followarg
e this vear He expoc 1hic Lo mpadt perinrmance
postively as well as makong ¢ faster tg integrate new
ACUESINNng 2s we aceelerste oo ol an MSA siratopy
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SUSTAINABILITY

S0 fet's talk a little about what is atways
3 hot wopic of conversation, “What's
going 10 happen to Radius when nu
one is using diesel anymore?

Welt before | answer that question
tet's Just recap on how the Radius
Fuel Solutions business 1s doing, This
year we expedt fuel volumes to grow
by around 20% with only 8% of that
being the bounce back from a prior
year impacted by Covid. As yel there has been very minimal
penetration of electnic vehicles into our core commercial
van, light goods vehicle and truck space, especially with
SMEs, and many of our verticals are growing rapidly as the
retail trend towards home delivery has been given a huge
boost during the last 18 months. There is obviously a lot

of investment guing or by vehide manufacturers around
electrification and how the next couple of decades plays
out is very difficult to predict. However, ane thing for sure
is that there is going 10 be a considerable market for road
fuels for many years ahead and we expect this division to
keep growing for the foreseeable future as we improve our
products and services and grow market share,

That doesnt mean that we have our head in the sand or we
don't care about the importance of the encrgy transition
and th¢ need 1o protect the environment. Over the next few
years we know we must transform our business and build a
long term platform for growth and sustainahility and below |
have outlined the two central pilars 1o this strategy.

The first cf these is to continue diversifying the Group

into becoming a supplier of a wider range of services to

our core SME customers where we Can use technology to
differentiate aurselves. Six years ago we were 100% fuel;
today 25% of our gross profit comes from our new divisions
- telematics, telecoms and insurande, and by March next
year | expect the monthly run rate to be above 30%. With all
our M&A being directed towards non-fuel and our organic
growth model in the new divisions cnly just beginning

ta filter through, 1 expect the transition of the business

to accelerate further aver the years ahead with us being
dependent on fuel for less than 50% of our gross profic
within the next 3-5 years, despite It Continuing to grow.

To give some coniext, since January we have completed S
acquisitions and we currently have several more at heads
of terms or final negotiation so | expect things to change
quickly even just in the next 12 months. In 10 years' time |
expect Radius to have a much different luck and feet where
fuel is sub 20% of a strong set of interlinking divisions that
give the Group a greater balance and breadth of capability.

The second pillar of gur sustainabilicy
stralegy is to address the energy
transition head on and make Radius &
perfect partner to support customers
as they decide when and how they
should change their fleets to fitin

best with their business needs. | ast
November we invested in Chargepoint
Europe, 2 leading supplier of electric
vehicle charging points with a strong
footprint in Holland and Belgium, and
we ate already inaking good progress
in delivering their services to our local customer base.

We have also launched an EV on-road charging offering

in Denelux and the UK with customer numbers already in
excess of 3,000, Usage is still small but it's baby steps in a
market which will obviously be gathering pace over the next
tew years. In addition, we are in the process of setling up a
jnint venture with an established supplier, Green Energy, to
become a commercial electricity supplier in the UK. This will
allow us to provide power both at our customers' premises
and at their drivers’ homaes which will probably be their
main vehicle charging locations given the more local nature
of their typical business operations. This division should
launch in early September and one of the key cornerstones
10 our strategy is that we will be supplying 100% renewable
electricity. We are also looking to invest in a vehicle rental
business and our vision is 10 become a complete “Mobility”
lifetime supplier of vehicles and energy as well as the
obvious additions of tracking, maintenance and insurance.

We are pursuing many other initiatives within the business
to improve how we interact with the environment both for
our customers and the business itsulf as well as working
on improving diversity and cur social responsibilities. For
example, we are in the process of launching a carbon
offsetting scheme with & leading woocdland creation
enterprise that will allow our customers to offset their
carbon emissions by way of a surcharge on their fuel.

Our new head office was designed specifically to improve
the working environment for our employees and we are
currently working on development of an exciting new
building which wiil be a hub for our telematics operations
and will incorporate a number of sustainability led design
features including rainwater harvesting, PV panels and 25
electric vehicle charging points.

i hope that the above gives a better insight inlo where we
see the future of the business and the progress we have
made over the latesl 12 months, | am sure that this strategy
will continue Lo evolve but we look on the fuel business and
our large customer base across 15 countries as a unigue
opportunity and competitive advantage in the marketplace
and not something to be worried about. We are looking
forward to the future more than ever and teel the Covid
impacted rmonths have been ones that have helped us re-
think and re-define cur future more ctearly and now it is our
job to execute the strategy in the best possible way.

Bill Holmes-CEQ
26 August 2021
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Strategic Report

The directors have pleasure in submitting their Strategic Report for Radius Payment Solutions Limited for the year

ended 31 March 2021,

1.1  Our Business Model

Ragius Payment Solutions is a service provider to the fleet
and legistics market, providing a market leading range of
services to the small and medium licet sectors. We operate
refiable and secure proprictary technology platforms that
cnable our customers te manage their fuel costs and other
business expenses efficiently and to track the location,
journey history and performance of their vehicles and
drivers via any web enabled device.

On a typical day we currently manage over 100,000 card
payments aCrass 26 countrivs, provide telematics services
covering over 400,000 assets and telecoms servicos (o over
135,000 wsers. Our solutions are delivered by over 1,700
staff from 27 offices in 18 countries.

Although our origins fie in Europe, which represents a

large and stable market, the Group also has offices in Asia,
Australia, South Africa and the US, providing access 1o these
important growth areas.

Through a structured programme of investment we are
continuously innovating both the range of services on
offer and the ways in which they are delivered.

LEADING TECHNOLOGY

Cur focus on using advanced rechnology to make vehicie
and expense management easy and efficient is what
separates us from cur competitors. whether through
embracing smartphone apps, develgping cutting edge

card management software or bringing never-scen-before
products to market, we have always led through technology.

A central philosophy behind the way we develop our
services is one of continuat improvernent, driven around

a regular release cycle. We aim Lo maximise the additional
functionality we can achieve each cycle, giving our customers
the best service possible 10 help them imanage their
business efficiently.

Whiile il is obvious Lthat tnany of our customers are on the
move, we were armong the first in the industry to embrace
the app revolution and create un-the-go solutions for
drivers. We now have a range of apps available iree to all
our customers allowing thern (o manage mulliple paymeric
cards, control telecoms costs and track vehicies from the
palm of their hand wherever i Lthe world they are.

DIGITAL MARKETING AND SOCIAL MEDIA

Radius is a market leader in digital developments; managing
over 50 websites across the world and constantly innovating
to ensure our o-commerce offering remains a step ahead of
our competitors. Widespread investrment in Search Frigine
Marketing means, for example, that anycne looking for a fuel
card gnline is swiftly directed to the relcvant Radius website
to continue thetr research and decision-making. Each
individual website (s designed with sophisticated geoceding
+ apabilives to highly personalise the user experience, whilst
a proactive approach to inbound iead generating means the
custorner jcurney runs scamlessly fram end Lo end.

Whilst we continue to invest in highly trained telesales
professionals and direct marketing campaigns, social media
is becoming one of the most effective ways of engaging with
new custormers and we are seeing completely new channels
of customer engagement develop over very short time
periods. Our digital team is constantly looking at these new
channels and we are increasingly using video to illustrate
our products and services through this media. Unlocking
new routes to market in the SME segment is criticat to

our growth plans and we will continue to increase our
investment in this area to maximise our opportunities peing
forward.

lechnology and innovation arc new at the heart of
everything Radius is doing, both in how we develop our
products and then how we deliver them to customers.
Our in-house dedicated software teams make use of the
latest applications 1o help develop unigue features on our
web, tabler and app portals, These are designed to be both
intuitive and fast which is how we want to differentiate
oursetves versus competition. Customer feedback drives
the direction of cur system development and our 5 weekiy
roliout cycles mean that there 15 4 constant evolution and
improvement in user expenence.

Velocity is the Group's web portal for interacting with its
customers. Continuously developing bath the content and
usability of this system is seen as critical to the future of
Radius and is a key focus for both senior management time
and financial investment. We already have over 140,000
active users, which is growing monthly as customers
convert to using it for their normal administrative weekly
requirements such as card ordering and invoice collection.

Velocity also acts as an important “showcase” for our
senvices, generating high quality sales leads as customers
become aware of additional services we offer which might
be of value to them.
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1.2 Our Services

Radius offers a wide range of taitored sences for fleets, from own brand and corporate charge rards to r_narket
leading web and smartphone applications that help customers manage their businesses better. The services are

delivered via five divisions:

radius

Fuel Solutions

OWN BRAND FUEL CARDS

Radius own brand cards are accepted at over 10,000 sitex.
throughout Curope These cards include locat brands in
midividual countries such as UK Fuels in the UK, Fleetpass in
Belgium and DClin rctand, as well as Furopean Diesel Card
(DY, a Pan-Curopean product for international transport and
Ingistics cormpanies. Our card acceptance partners range from
indriduat service statior owners to site groups, incuding low
cost supermarket networks and major oif companies

q

UK Fuels expanded its nationwide fuel card network
to over 3,500 sites in 2021 with the addition of 308
Sainsbury's petrol stations, /5 fuel statinns owned
by Motor Fuel Group and a further 28 Moto Services,
UK Fuels naw has the largest Independent fuel card
retwork in the UK, including Sainsbury's, Tesco,
Maorrisons and the C o-op.

Jonathan Haseler, Regional Director of UK Fuels,
commented: “The team at UK Fuels has been working
exceptionally hard over the last year to expand the
network. We atways had our sights set on becoming
the largest network in the UK. With hundreds

more supermarket fuel stations being added in
recent months - giving us 83% coverage of the UK
supermarket fuel station network — we have reached
our goal with flying colours. By posicode area we now
have 97% of the UK covered with fuel station locatians
that accept our fuel cards, which is a significant
milestone in UK Fuels history.”

We also offer dicsel bunkering services, specifically designed
for targe hauliers and operators managing GV fizets who
prefer to buy their fuelin bulk and want additional network
coverage to refuel wherever they are.

MA|OR OIL COMPANY FUEL CARDS

Radius is one of the largest resellars of ol company brander
fuel cards in burope ard Asia, warking with nearly all of

the major oil companies and many of the large regionai
Frrropean networks From our local otfices we operate
tlesales, direct marketirg and web based arhvlies
cambined with a full invoicing, card issuing and credit
management solubion from our contral hubh in € rowe, LK

VELOS MASTERCARD

The Velos corporale charga card 15 a convenient and cost
aHective fleet payment solution that cnabies drivers to Al up
a1 any fuelling station used natinnwide - including, low cast
snpermarket sites

i addition ¢ fuel, the card also aflows businesses to pay for
ather busiress mxpenaes such as toll charges, hotels, food
and drink, maintenance costs and ransport. Oparating on
the Mastertard® network, our three tiored solution helps
tailar our cuslomers' requirereents 1o ther busmess needs

TOLLS AND VAT RECOVERY

Radius offers a full range of Furopean toll solutions inctuding
all the major motorways, tunnels and bridges. These are
ospecially important for interpational transport comparnies
that iravel alorg the key connoecting routes across the
contment Dur range of services is continuallv expanding as
on-board umts are becoming the easiest and most secure
way 1o pav for Turopean road rolls

v adction, we provde a tax rerovery senvice that allows our
customers 1o reclsm thor international VAT and henee help
rinimise their husiness fuol costs

E-ROUTE

=101 15 0ur pUrpese bl sottware, whirh our cusromers
Ll AL g The web o1 vis a sinarlphone app. Moe than
jst aste focator, s-Roiste is a valuable rool for planning
journeys that enables our customaors ta deliver long term
cost savings through redue ed route deviation With the
abiliry 1o select o stan and rlestination poirt, it can highlight
Al trel sites berweer twa lorations and show real-iime
traffic congestion levels,

FUEL MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

From a base in Denmark we supply a complete range of fleet
and fluid managemen: equipment and assoclated products.

Ir adehition 1o supplving terarmals to recara the supply of
fuclwe offer a -ange of doud based managamen: 1ools
and antine irterdares which allow customers (o monitor
and manage ke movement of thetr floeis and transaction
infarmation This can provide a complere picture of every
litre of fuel purchased and used by card, vehicle or driver

o Trustpdot

E After reaching more than 1,000 reviews, UX Fuels is
now rated ‘Excellent’, with a trust score of 4.8 out of
5 making it the highest-rated fuel rard providsr an
Trustpilot, More than 35% of LIX Fuels' total Trustpilof,
reviews are five-star which is tostament to the first-
class level nf customer service our teams provide day
N, day out. it proves that they are siccessful in thewr
QNgOIng MISSIon fo enstre every custormer is hapgy
with their acconnt and the service they receve.
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Telematics

Our in-house developed telematics service ("Kinesis") is a solution designed to offer the latest innovations in vehide tracking
for all fleet sizes. The Group has made a significant investment in the development of Kinesis which provides customers
anywhere in the world with the following features and benefits via fast and convenient access on any web enabled device,

including smart phones and tablets;

Features

A live fleet map, updated every minute so you can always
see exactly where your vehicles are.

The ability to replay every journey that your vehicles

have made, including in progress journeys. Data can

be presentad in a variety of formats to suit your needs
including individual journey maps or daily utilisation reports
showing start and stop times.

Driver performance reports, allowing you to monitor and
compare particular characteristics of all of the drivers in
your fleet. These include speeding harsh braking, harsh
acceleration and idling.

Vehide performance - our unique integration software
brings together fuel card data with cdometer information
and vehicle location.

= i

Benefits

Customers are able to provide useful real-time information
about delivery times to their dients and improve the
efficiency of their fleet.

Vehicle movements can be monitored during a set period to
help improve fleet utilisations.

An easy to understand reporting system can assist with
verification of imesheets, ensuring that drivers are paid
correctly for their working time and eliminating unnecessary
overtime expenses or idle time.

The reports are designed to improve vehicle efficiency

and driver health and safety. Qur fleet dashboard allows
customers to easily monitor trends across their entire fleet
and identify areas for improvement.

Customers have access o highly accurate information on
vehicle efficiency and can be alerted to instances of fraud
and fuel theft.
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tnitially, our focus on tefematics involved direct sales of our
Kinesis product to existing fuel card rarkels tlowever, our

UK Telematics business also provides us with access 1o " MODUS®

public sector and dtilities ma_rkets and the ahiliry 1o provide ‘ TELEMATICS
bespoke services 1o fleets with more complex requirerments ‘

In addition, wo have bail a [ull “white labet” ¢ apabitity which,
through carefully selected partners, provides access to now

. Bill Holmes comimented: “Brandon, Tim and the teain
customers across a rumber of continents.

4l Modus have built a fantastic technology platform

Recently, the Graup has been tocused on developing the over the last 10 years and their app-only tracking

range of Kinesis offerings available to nur customers. Kingses solution is the best we have ever seen in terms of I
atom offers customers maost of the benefits of the traditiona! accuracy and ease of deployment. This move notonly
Kinests tracking selution but can be easily self-installed, strengthens our N_o‘rth Amencan tracking business but
meaning no large installation costs and no sctup fees; whilst gives us some exciting new products to selt across our
Kinesis Pro offers a lully customisable web-based platicrm global footprint, In particutar, their insurance linked |
for ol fleet sizes. app s an important part of the jigsawin our plan to '

create a market leading division that uses technoiogy

Radus also offers asset recovery solutians and infegrater as a key differentiator m new products such as ‘Payas

rdmerd technoiogpy through Kiness Vision, from forwared !

- ) . you Drive” i
facing dash cams to complex multi camera systemns which ! ) o I
capture 10 seconds of footape whenever a high soverity b "Becoming part of the Radius business witl give Modus
event is detected and this can e vewerd via "VelonTy”, our - reach and gceess to customers on a global scale
web-based managernent tool, that we have never had before. We are excited to :

contribute tn the Rading product portfolio with some
~f the bast telematics solutions in the industry. We ‘
Are also confident that Radius Telematics” wide range |
! ot sohitions will have a huge impact or the North j
America market” sokdt Brandon johnson, Modus CEO.

Shortly after the year end we madoe two exoling now
acquisitions in this sector which have further exparderi o
grographic reach and technical capability:

= Canlracks the LKS leading stolen vehicle recovery
{("SVR™) telemaucs business, CanTrack proteds bigh value .
vehicles and assets warth over haif 5 billion pounds in
total, using s unigue software platform, combinod with
an fM-house investigations umt. they also have a rapidly
growing live trackng business that coraplements the SVR
division, and makes them a perfect partner for many of
the leading vehide manufacturers

= Modus s aleading Insuretech business based ir
Huntington Beach, California. Modus has been a pioneer
i the wireless and vehicte telematics space and providon
services to mary of the world's leading insurers and
technology compantes,

]
: 4
i
¢

a%o
CanTrack 7a®

. U |

i Peter Thompson. Managing Director of Canirack,

i commented: "Our growth in recent years has been
 exceptional, and we've heen cansidering partnering
| wath a larger global player for some time a5 our clients’
;. needs became more complex. We had no <hortage
of suitors, but Radius clearly stood out to us as the
best fit. They're an incredibly exciting company, full
of passionate people who have a track record 1in
sustamable growth and delivering on objectives.

I Cuiturally, there was a streng alignment, which was
| incredibly important to us. We're also proud to be
part of a British success story, which is now one of
the world's top five businesses in our space. The
entire senior team at CanTrack including rmyself will
be staying on, and we're excited to bring the wider
nroduct portfolio to our clients.”
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Connect

Radius Connect, our telecoms division, 15 one of (he UK's
fastest growing companies in this sector, Having completed
7 acquisitions in Just 18 months we have assembled a
comprehensive product, supplier and Lechnical base lrom
which we can offer great service, competitive pricing and
innovation to a wide range of customers.

we offer solutions from ail the major maobile networks
(Vodafone, 02, EE) and have a range of hosted VoIP options
(NTA, NFON, 8X8, Gamma] to suit all office requirements
from small single location enterprises Lo major international
businesses. We are already investing in unproving how we
deliver these services o customers by using our web and
app based platorms to provide real time management
information.

The most recent investments made in this sector include:

In july 2020, Radius acquired the customer list of
) Amelix Telecom, a specialist in providing fixed line
‘ relephony 10 businesses in the South East.

i

& (N September 2020, Radius acquired Connect
Total Communications, one of the LK's leading
suppliers of telecoms solutions to small and
rmedium businesses based in Belfast with regienal
offices in Aberdeen and Lewes. Connect provides

I a Tull range of services inctuding mobile, hosted

telephony and data connectivity.

In January 2021 we acquired a 50% investment
in Tariffcom, a supplier of technology and pricing
analysis services to the telecoms industry, i
giving Radius capability to provide accurate cost !
comparisons on both mobile and fixed line bills.
|

Tariffcom’s custorners include Tier 1 mobite
provigers and major telecomns dealers and
resellers who use the products 10 both improve
the new customer sign up process and reduce
churn within their existing customer base.

In March 2021, Radius added to ils telecoms

i portfolio with the acquisitions of Rainbow

| Communications and Frontier Growup. Rainbow,

' a company based in Belfast with aver 20 years
of expenience in the telecorns industry in the UK
and Ireland, provides a full range of solutions ;
including cennectivity, hosted VOIP and maobile
10 business customers. Frontier is a business
rechnology provider that specialises in mobile,
connectivity and IT solutions L0 businesses in the
North East and is a national provider of tailored
services (o the care industry.

ﬁvnﬁagroup

¢ radius

Insurance Solutions

Our insurance division offers innovative solutions to our
fleet, plant and other customers. We work with a large
panel of underwriters and insurers to provide competitive
pricing without compromise on service and cover and
through our team at Burley Insurance in Sheffield have over
30 years of experience in suppoerling customer needs. In
addition to fleet insurance we also offer a complete range
of other preducts including property, liabiity and combired
commerdial insurance.

In August 2020, we launched Radius Insurance

| Solutions, a new telematics based fleet insurance

| offering. This innovative product bundles subscription-
tree vehicle tracking with discounted fleet insurance to
deliver a double saving for cur clients.

Matt Kirby, Girector of Radius Insurance Solutions,
commented:

“Telematics based fleet insurance means clients having
a tracking device installed in each of their vehicles i
which reduces risk and leads to a discounted insurance
policy. Customers use the power of telematics insight to
encourage safer driving habits amang their employees
and reduce their fleet’s insurance claims, This helps
maintain insurance premiums at the jowest possible
rate going forward. We are really excited about this
launch and continuting to help our customers improve
the efficiency of managing their fleets.

\
|

¢ radius

Electric Vehicles

() Chargepoint

Radius Electric Vehicles is focused on providing products and
services to help our customers make the switch w electric.
Ihe range includes workplace and horme charge points and
a new dual-fuel card that enables drivers 1o charge their
vehicles and buy diescl or petrol, all on one card.

The division has started on the continent and in particular
The Netherlands and Belgium which are secing some of

the highest rates of electric vehicle sales in Europe and
where the charging networks are developing most rapidly.

In November 2020, we invested in Chargepoint Europe a
company based in The Netherlands which has developed a
wide range of high speed cornmerdiat units to suit the needs
of the growing mar ket for electric vehicle charging. wWe have
also launched an e-mcbility card in Belgium and plan to roll
this concept out across all our major European markets.
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1.3 Our People

Our success would not be possible without the support
of a highly skilled and loyal workforce across all the
countries we operate in and Radius offers an exditing
environment in which staff are able to achieve rapid
career development.

We beliove strongly in fostering and dovelnoping talent

i order to create the leaders of the ture and the
investment we make carh year n our Leaderstip
Develaprrent Mrogramme s proving Lo be highly successful
in egEAPDING Qur up 2nd roming husiness lraders with

a broader understandmg of gur markelplace and the
irteprated functions of the Group. in addmen, all staff
henefit from ar cess (o the Radius Virtual Leasring,
Frvironment, our online frammg solution used to engage.
educate entoree and svaluate stafl traring and awareness
alnngside Internat «lassroom based 1Haing courses,

on the job framing, mentanng and cnaching. We are
particularly commutrad 1o recraiting and developing the
host graduates, hiring thesoe mn s vanety of roles arross,

the business through strucrured graduate developroent
programmes.. Woe also work closely with local schonls aned
higher educabion instiutes to affer “Year in indisstry” and
othor sharter term piarorontsin a nmber of onr feams,

W encogrape Al sall 1o Dlay an sclive oo in suapporing
a range of chantable organmisanons and cvants, with
particular focus oo those which have greatest relevance tn
1he carsrnunites, wo five and worlan 10 adeition 1o fiend
rarsing and sponsarship this also mvolves <taif acling as
trustens and volimteesrs, recognising rhat their slafls and
expenence can be of significant value 1o chanties and
nther sodal enter Dmm,

I the year ended 27 March 2021 the importance of
protesing the health and wellbeing of our staff was
reinforeed by the Covid 19 pandormie, Detals of the
measires raken by the Gravp n response 1o this rhollenge
are set outin sesnior 1.9 We are parnicutarly prood of
how emplovees 1ork personal responsibility for nrotecting
themseives and thoir colicagues dunng this chalienping
period whilst also ensurirg (hat customers continued to
receive ourstanding fevels of sorvice,
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1.4 Sustainability

The Group has historically been dependent on the sale of
diesel via its fuel card serviges for a significant proportion
of its income. As the impact of fossil fuels on climate
change has become mare clearly understood the Graup's
significant stakeholders have recognised the need to
mitigate the enviranmental impact of its activities via
initiatives aimed at achieving a reduction in the world's
carbon emissions.

The Group is stillin the early stages of responding (o this
challenge but relevant activities include:

Diversification into new business areas - over the most
recent five years the Group has established new divisions to
offer its fuel card customers complementary services which
have a much fower carbon foatprint. These services, such as
tefernatics, telecoms and insurance also have a role to piay
in belping customers use loss fuel and drive more safely.
whilst still relatively new activities, at the tirme of writing our
non fuel businesses already contribute nearly 25% of the
Group's gross profit and plans are in place to increase this
proportion significantly over the next five years.

investing in the growth of its electric vehicle division -
Radius Flectric Vehicles is our youngest division and, as

the name suggests, is focussed on e-mobility which is

the concept of using electric motors as a repiacement to
internal combustion engines for the propulsion of vehicles
and fleets. The division is split broadly into two areas;

the first being the provision of charging units for cither
business or heme use and the second 1s the provision of
access to charging networks using cards or mobile payment
mechanisms.

Our aim is to meet the changing needs of our customers
over the forthcoming years as the use of new technologies
in transpoertation, including e-mability and other grecner fuc
sources, grow in impertance. The division has started an the
continent and in particular The Netherlands and Belgiurn
which are seeing some of the highest rates of electric
vehicle sales in Europe and where the charging networks
are developing most rapidly. In 2020 we acguired a 50%
share in Chargepoint Furope, ane of the leading suppliers
of charging units, where we plan to accelerate growth and
continue to develop the technology. We have also launched
an e-mobility card in Belgium and plan to role this concept
out across alt our major European markets,

Investing in the electricity supply market - the Group
15 close 1o launching an electricity supply business which will
provide its customers with the opportunity to source energy
for fuelling electric vehicles as well as for general business
use. Al electriaty supplied will be fram 100% green sources
with 7ero carbon dioxide emissions.

Offering customers the opportunity to offset their
carbon footprint - the Group has partnered with a leading
developer of woodland creation and other carbon capture
projects and plans to launch a carbon offsetting service.
Customers will be invited to pay a premium price for their
fuel which will be used to purchase carbon credits, sufficient
to offset fully the associated carbon dioxide emissions.

Creating a more sustainable working environment -
our head office building, Radius Campus, has been widely
recognised as an outstanding building project which
contributes positively to the local community. It won

an award at the RICS Awards 2019 with judges being
paiticutarly impressed at the focus placed on employee
wellbeing. We are currently busy designing a further new
office in Crewe to house our grewing non fuel related
businesses. Arden Square will create capacity for us to
expand our Crewe based workforce to in excess of 1,000
and will incorpos ate a number of sustainability led desigr
features induding rainwater harvesting, PV panels and 25+
electric vehicle charging points.

Managing our own carbon footprint - a5 a people hased
service provider our own activities have a relatively low
impact on the envircnment. As explained in the Corporate
Governange report the Group's UK emissions in the year
ended 31 March 2021 amounted to 172.7 carbon dioxide
equivalent tonnes from the combustion of gas and fuel anc
305.1 tonnes from the purchase of electricity. Nevertheless
we recognise Lhat there is more we could do 10 control our
own emissions and further initiatives in this area will form
part of our plans for the future,

Computer render of the new Radius office, Arden Square
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1.5 Review of the Year

The volume of fiel sotd via the Group's fuel cards, decreasad
b 5% during the vear to 2.4 hillion litres this was driven by
nat'onal lockdowns in response to the Cowvd- 19 panderic,
which caused volumes » the UK and freland 1o fall by 8% The
impacl was confined howevar, primarily to the first quaner of
the finandal vear and was Iess sigruficant in many of the orhes
maior territunes the Group operates in. Volumes recovered
strongly towards the end of the year and reached record
monthly levels in & number of countries, including the LK,
Belgum, Germany and ftaly. Qur major oil compary partnoers
were very supportive of us during this challersing period,
valuing the role we playad in staying close 1o end customers,
and providing maore oxtonsive acceptance of 2ur fuel cards
vanous key terntorees,

Fuel prices fell sharply 'n the first quarter of the linancial year
bofore steadily ncreasing to March 2021, Diesel prices in

the UK ended at 11 78 pes ere, 3% hipher than the <sarming
position within the vear there was volatility morth on menrh,
wirhy the pump prce of dtesel o the LK flucruating between
£1.17 and £1.28 ponce per litre.

an (
b ,,_\.
-

Ceotn Duepartenent fer B ey Friergy & Industrial Strategy

ihis volatility in prices had no majns adverse mpact on
our profitability. Customers valued the role played by the
Croup i helping thom ta manage flurmiations in ther cow
base dunng a streszfut penod and we achieved a <light
ncrease inthe o2nce cor itre margin compared to The
rrior year

fhe Cowvid 19 pandenne Bad tuch kess impact on oar noe
el related busines-os. We acte particufarty pleased 1o
achiove siprificant further arpanic growrhm our telrmatics
bosness  from 3 sranding <rart only sixoyeadrs ago we now
have @ market leadging product wath over 300,000 vehicles
and otber assets being rracked arross several continents at
31 March 2021, Ther has beon sign Scant development of
the weraces or offer - we ars now able to ofter inlegrated
dashcam and ot camera rechnology, assel recovery
~olutions and customers are able 1 sell-install devices and
LIS VO ARRISLANC e fec NGy o a0cest Kinams data.

e acoaisitions nf Cennent Tntal C ommumcarions, Bainbow
Communications and the Fronticr Group in the second hall
of the financial year fusther expanded our product nffering
in the tolecomes sector maore tharn doubling the number of
cornactions 1o ¢ 125,900 and bringing 2 wealth of techrucal
and sales experience Furthar growth s oxpected, and we
see huge poteritial in being able 1o offer telecoms seruces
o o custamers alonirnide ther fucl cards relematices,
<apvirDs andg nthier preodiets

Rarlings rornraed 1o exparadits proserce inthe msirance
market, bulding or s investment i the Burley frosp va
the develonmer: of telernatics oot insurar ce (now branded
Rorfurs Incurance Sefutionet, penerating over £18 0m ot
rOSS Wrtien prormeme

funther pvesiment han alse been masae in the Groups
management 1o raflect the avolution and contiruged
grovthr of the business Theoancloded the recngitonont of 5
Corporate Development Director and ¢ Managing Director
for Telocoms 10 Durone, 2ach of whom pnre g wealth of
experionce from then proviegs hosineoneg

As the range of separes nffered by the Gronp has haen
ayadanded, sienificant einthiase bas bheen placed on
cnsunng customens are aware of, ard are ahle to access,
these additional sorvic s as soaminssly a5 possible Veloony,
the Crne's costomer web partal, s proving (o be a valuable
ool shaowasing the fult - snge of the Groups ofienngs,
anchin geraratiog now sales froms exisling costarr ers

The Croup in monitanng cnsely the nxtent to which “he
sitatesmy ot rogs 7

sallings worvices 1n proving suceessul inimal

nehcatons are encouraging, with, for example, aver 80%

f e arconnts wee by the telematics disason sirce s
meepinn boing exeting ~ustomers of the frel card daasion,
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1.6 Financial Review

The results for the year are shown on page 30. The directors are satisfied with the performance of the Group which
demonstrated growth in profitability despite the impact of Covid-19. Turnover was £2,203.9 million (year ended 31
March 2020: £2,620.4 million). Profit before tax was £62.4 million (2020: £52.9 million} and adjusted EBITDA was £91.1

million (2020: £87.4 miillion).

Furnover 1s influenced by fluctuators in fuel prices. GGross
profit is considered o be a more meaningful indicator and
ingreased by 3% when cornpared with priar year

As highlighted in section 1.4, the Group's sustainability
strategy incluges a target to increase the proporion of
profit contributed by sctivities with a fow carbon footprint.
Excellenr progress has been made against this objective
with 21% of gross profit (2020: 16%) coming from non fuet
relateg services.

Profit before tax increased by £9 5m comgpear ea 1o the
prior yoar. This was mainly due (o the recognition of an
excepticnal impairment of £10.3m in the prior year offset
by anincrease of F4.5m in amortisation and depreciation
charges in the cusrent year. Other administrative expenses
also increased by £3.0m, reflecting continued recruitment
and Invesunent in business mnirastru.ture to support the
growth plans,

i ast year's report referred to concerns around the
potenual impact of Covid-19 on the recoverabiiity of trade
debts from customers whose businesses were likely Lo
experience cash flow difficultics in [uture periods. In reality
these concerns did not malendlise and Lght credic control
procedures resulted in bad debts and credit insurance
costs being maintained at or below normal levels in most
countries throughout the year. Nevertheless, the £1.7m
provision wredted it the prior year hias beern retained,
recognising that the position might change as and when
gavernments phase out the exceptional fevels of support
which have been provided o businesses 10 allow them ro
survive the pandert-ic.

As explatned in section 1.7, the direcrors censider adjusted
EBITDA 1o be Key to understanding the underlying
performance of the Group and are pleased Lo report this
increased to £91 1 (2020, £87 4m). Althuugh Covid-19
impacted adversely on the fuel card business during the
year, the Group's overhead cost base was carefully managed
in order to mitgate this where possible and the increased
proportion of non fuel related services helped create
greater resiience and continuity of income durning this
challenging pericd.

Capital exoendiure of £7.2 million (2020: £3.2 millien) reflec
costs incurred in conneclion with the refurbishiment of one
of the Group's sales offices in Crewe and the puschase of
telernatics and telecoms devices for customer use.

The acquisitions of Connect Total Communications {24
September 2020), Rainbow Communications (1 March
2021} and the Frontier Group (23 March 2021} for total
consideration of £38.1m (ncduding cash acquired), resulted
in the recognition of £19.6m of goodwill,

The Group also acguired a 50% share in each of
Chargepoint Europe BY and lariffcorn Limited for total
consideration of £3.3 milkion.

Consolidated net assets were £219.2 million (2020: £1850
rmailion).

Radius Payment Solutions Lirmited is a 100% subsidiary

of Radius Payinent Solutions Bidco |imited. The ultimate
parent undertaking rs Radus Payment Solutions Topco
Lirited. Radius Payment Solutions Bidco Limited is party

Lo a five year Senior Facilities Agreement with a six bank
chub wnich provides the Group with access to a £76 million
multicurrency revolving credit facility and a £56 million bank
guarantee facility.

In the prior year, as a precaulionary measure ro protect
against any risk of illiquidity in the banking sector as a

resulf of the emerging Cowvid-19 anisis, the revolving credit
facility was drawn i full at the year enid which resulted in
the Group holding cxceptionaily high levels of cash. This

has been repaid during the year and, at 31 March 2021 the
(aroup had cash and cash equivaients of £14.8 miliion (2020
£57.4 million). Underlying cash generauon has continued

to be strong with £ 73.7 million (2020: £62.4 million} of cash
generated from operations during the year.

Dividends of £14.0 million {2020: £23.0 million) were paid Lo
Radius Payment Solutions Bidco Limited during the year.

Shortly after the year end the Group sold its investment in
WEX Curope Services |imited for cash proceeds of £70.7m.
AL the year end this investment was held at a carrying
value of I'S.6m, generating a profit on disposal of £65.1m.
Agroement has been reached with the Group's banks that
these cash proceeds can be utilised to fund further M&A
activitics in the year ending 31 March 2022 rather than
trung applied 1o repay bank debt.
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1.7 Key Performance indicators

The Group uses the following key performance indicators to support the development, performance and position
of the business:

VOLUME GROWTH AND NEW CUSYOMER APPLICATIONS

The directors see these two measures as important indicators of growth in all regions, where expanding the customer base
and controlling attrition levels are considered key to ensure critical mass is reached, market share is improved and brand
awareness is established.

In addition to the volume of fuel sold by card type, the number of tefematics devices, telecoms connections instalied and
activated and insurance gross written premiums are alsn monitored against agreed targets.

GROSS MARGIN PENCE PER LITRE

Due to the extremely narrow margins involved in the fuel card business, the directors continuously monitor trends in pence
per litre and gross margin and set targets for all products and territories, Internal reporting is completed on a weekly basis.
COST OF CREDIT

Across each territory, the Group’s credit teams closely monitor the bad debt performance and cost of credit insurance to
ensure sufficient margins are being achieved. This is particularly relevant due to different economic climates and customer
rehaviours across Europe and Asia.

ADJUSTED EBITDA
Adjusted EBATDA i< « alculated as follows

yearended 31 tMarch Yeay ended 31 March

Profit on ordinary activities before interest £64.0m £54.7m
Add:

Amartisation £20.8m £17.7m
Depreciation f44m £3.0m

Deprediation and amortisation included
within share of eperating profit of

associated companies and joint ventures £1.9m £1.7m
Exceptional costs incurred in connection

with impairment of ERP systermn — £10.3m
Adiusted EBITDA £91.1m E87.4m
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1.8 Risks and Uncertainties

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Group's financial and internal controls and consider that the
established systems are appropriate to the operation. The directors have considered potential risks and uncertainties
that may affect the Group's future profitability or ability to trade and believe that adequate resources are dedicated to
mitigating any adverse impact on the business. The following risks have been specifically addressed as part of this review:

ECONOMIC, CASH FLOW AND LIQUIDITY RISK

A business plan has been developed, summarising the
markets in which the Group operates, tagether with its
business dctivitivs, strategy, and aitical success facars. The
business plan atso contains financial forecasts for a three year
period. Monthly reviews are conducted to analyse results
versus budget and investigate variances Cash flow review
and forecasting s an integral part of the financial review and
monitoring process; working capital and capital investmient
controls are in place to ensure hat the business is adequatcly
funded. The Group has a strong and supportive relationship
with its bankers which prowides confidence over any potential
access to finance that may be required in the fulure.

TECHNOLOGY RISK

The data centres used by the Group have sufficent power
and security faciliies and increasing use is heing made of
cloud based computing services. Unkne backup protecton
and a clear disaster recovery plan mitigate the risk asscciated
with {1 fallure. The Croup has a well established T function
which is responsible for maintaining the Group's technology
envirenment, supported by a team which indudes an
appropriately experienced Head of Information Security.

SUPPLIER RISK

I'he Group is reliant on certain suppliers in order ta provide
its services to custorners. The Group aims to mitigate against
relianCe on any cne party by entering into formal supply
contracts with a number of suppliers. Due 10 the nature of
the products and services being sold, the contracts in place
with suppliers and pricing agreements with custorners, the
Group does not experience significant pricing risks. The
Group enters into commaodity swaps regarding the purchase
of diesel from time to time to commerdially manage pricng,
and cash flow positions.

CREDIT RISK

The Group uses trade credit insurance in order to mitigate
against significant instances of bad debts and monitors closely
the payrent terms and performance of its custormer base. All
new ¢ustomers are strictly vetted and the directors consider
that the Group's credit policy is sufficiently robust to minimise
the credit risks posed by individual customers and the broader
economIc environment.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Aproportion of the Group's sales is denominated in currencies
other than Sterling which is onty partially matched by expenses,
denominated in these currendies. Forward contracts are used
from time to tirne 1o mitigate risk.

INTEREST RATE RISK

he Croup has a relatively modest level of external bank debt
and the direciors do nol consider the exposure to interest rare
rmovements to be significant. The use of hedging products will
be considered i the future i this risk is seen 1o rise.

ELECTRIC VEHICLES

Whilst no adverse impact has been experienced to date, as
part of the business planning process the directors continue
e monitor commiements made by various Curopean
governments 1o acceler ate the introduction of electric
vehicles and the potenual implications for the Group's fuel
card activities, The Group has established an electric vehides
division and has started 1o wiroduce produdcs amed at the
electric vehicle market into its portfolio.

During the year, two risks have been removed from
this list.

BREXIT

The transition period ended on 31 December 2020 with a

trade agreeinent being reached. The Group has completed
Lhe actions required to mitigate the impact of any changes
arising from Brexit without adverse impact lo the business.

CovID-19

As the Covid-19 pandemic developed rapidty in 2020/21,

the Group took a number of actions to menitor and mitigate
its effects whitst following government policy and advice

in order 10 be able to continue gperations in the best

and safest way possibte. The Group has not had to curtai.

its activities as a response o Cowd-19, with all divisions
SNOWINE a recovery to pre-pandemic levels and continued
arowth particularty in our non fuel relaled businesses.
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1.9 Section 172 Statement

The directors of the company, as those of all UK
companies, must act in accordance with a set of general
duties, as detailed in section 172 of the UK Companies
Act 2006.

A director of a company must actin the way they consider,
in good faith, would he most likely 1o promote the suciess of
the Company for the benetit of its sharebnlders as 2 whale
and, in deing so have regard (amongit other matlerss tor

= ihelikely conseguene es of any decsions in the Jorg term:

+ Theinterests of the company's emolovees:

+ the need to {oster the company's tnsiness relationshipe
with suppliers, customers and othera:

« Theimpadct of the company's operations nri thn
COmMmINIty and cnvironment;

* The desirability of the company maintaining a reputation
for high standards of business conduct, anrd

+ the neod to act fairty as between sbareholders of the
COMmpany

fr commaon with most farge busicesses, the dirertors fuifil
their duties partly through a governance framewsork that
delegates day to dav docision making to the amployes:

of the Group. An surhority matrix has been introduced te
suppart and formatse this process and 1s regularly resiowd
and armendoed to reflecr any changes (o perceived risks or
the environment in whrch the Gronp operates,

Cther derails of Apw the directors fulfil thew duties negch
of the areas sot cur above are:

CONSEQUENCE OF DECISIONS IN THE LONG TERM
Fach yoar, the board undertakes a review of the Group's
long torm strategy, weluding the business plan for the
following trree vears. Once approved by the board, the plan
and strategy form the has< for financ:al burigets, resourre
plans and nvestment decisions in making dedsions
roncernie g the business plan and future strategy. the board
has regard to a variety of iatters incdhuding the interests, of
vanous stakeholders, the consogunns es, of its deasons e
the donp rerm 2ed its inng Lerm reputation.

In approving the husinoss plan, the directors also

cansider externas factors such as carpetitor behavious
the performarce of the underlying markats in which we
DPETALL OF A18 (raposieg L aporate, as well as the meeharee
nCONAmIC, peblical andg rrarker condifiors, Where those
facrors are deemad 1o be wigniticant, addiinnal farecasung
A-tvines are undert akern to nckerstand tho mpact in -
ey mannet and cnzble intormed dorisine making

the board has aprerd 3 st of Largets for an acrentable eye’
of finandial resilicnice a~d hauidity and resularly rovews, the
Croup's forecast cask flows, funding “eqinramen:-., detr
capacity and financing sptions. These targnts are partly
roverred By the Gragpe hanking facilines asresment whict
covers the perind i Movermniier 20724

INTERESTS OF THE GROUP'S EMPLOYEES

The directors undearstand the importance of the Cronp's
armployees 10 1he long-term success of the business For
A1 husiness 16 sucoed we need 10 manags our people's
pertormance and develnp and bring through talent whilst
rRSUring Wo operars a5 etficiently and safely s possible

The Covia-10 pandoreg croated additnnal - hatlenges
Jrownnd protecting the beath and safety of cmployes
ard thor famifier, A the riskes ceeated by the pandemis
necame clegr 01 2020 arrangerment s wora marde for the
majerity nf empinyses (oowark from pome e all nop
nssenlig travel was suspended As oekdown resincdions
started to be fifted the dirscor, fnllowoed grovernmaent
phidelines i each of the countries we oporate m to oroure
<afe working opviennments were creaied Ths mnvolyedd
ostahlishing proforais arcnnd temperatire chiecking, <ona
chstaneme, deaning and personal hygiene standards eic
MAstmportantby, training sad onidancs waos provided not
wsl i connection witn how o deab with <13t presenting with
svmptams of Covied: 19 m ne workplace dut also Fow e ook
forr ng of strosan collograges ancd acs esn sppport

il

Larther dotails of the Group approach v dsvelognm,
prople are At o n sectnn 170 ann the dirnrtors reviegy
performancea in the, area on a repoion bass

Ihe Srogp regaiarky conunanates busnas progress ancd
SLaTeny Lo e re o ":":')ugh presontahions, nternat
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group-wide ernails and its intranet. Additionally, employee
surveys are undertaken periodically to allow staff to provide
honest feedback ahout therr experience working at the
Group.

workplace health and mental wellbeing continue to be
priorities with all employees able 1o access froe support
both in the office and whilst home-working. The Group's
head office building was designed with a focus on enhancing
employee wellbeing and has been recognised by the
property industry as such. Many features of this building
have been carried forward into other offices used by

the Group, several of which have undergone extensive
refurbishment programimes in recent years.

BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS

The board regularly reviews how the Group maintains
positive relationships with all of its stakeholders. It operates
long term partnership agreements with many of its major
suppliers with regutar meetings held Lo review progress and
develop new initiatives.

whilst the Group has grown partly through ME&A, its core
strategy prioritises orgamc growth, driven by cross selling
and up selling services Lo existing customers as well as
WINNINE new customers Maintaining high levels of custarner
satisfaction is key to this strategy and the Group conducts
regular surveys and encourages feedback from customers
to improve performance and generate new ideas.

IMPACT ON THE COMMUNITY AND ENVIRONMENT

As highiighted in section 1.3, the Group supports a number
of local and national charities through both fundraising and
volunteering and engages with the local communities in
which it operates on key local issues, reacting promptly o
any concerns.

The Group is in the early stages of developing a more
proactive sustainability strategy, details of which are set out
in section 1 4 of the Strategic Report.

HIGH STANDARDS OF BUSINESS CONDUCT

The directors take the reputation of the Group sernously
which is not limited to operationat and financial
performance. For example, the board has approved the
Group's policies on anti-siavery and human trafficking,
lata protection, gender pay reporting and tax strategy
(all of which can be found on the Group's website fwww.,
radiuspaymentsolutions.comy.

By order of th:e'» board
4/ ' \_ﬁh——'—“-

Bill Holmes - CEO
26 August 2021
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CHIEF EXECUTI__VE OFFICER
Bill Holmes

In 7990 3 founded UK Fuels, a new diesel bunkering comparty,
after previously working for £sso Petroleum. The company
developed rapidly over the next 20 years, supplying fucl cards
and associated services direct 1o customers as well as iajor
international oil companies. During the same period the evolving
group extended s geographical coverage, inttially to Iretand in
1896 and then inte mainiana Furope in 2004, In March 2013 after
over 20 years of growth, Bill then led a merger of over 20 European
fuel card companies and resellers to form Radius Payment
Sotutions, a new major playee in the fleet services market.

CHIEFFIIjIANClAL OFFICER
Simon Oldtield

Simon has responsibility for the group's business planning,
strategy, M&A and financing. He juined in 2014 from Green Sky
Energy where he was part of a private equity backed team which
created the LUK's leading energy efficiency and carbon reduction

business. He is a Chartered Accountant and, prior to joining
Creen Sky Energy, was a partner at ernst and Young, specalising

in providing corperate finance services to high growth businesses,
hanks and private equity investors.

Secretary

Malcolit: Bennett

Auditor

RSM JK Audit L LP
Chartered Accountants, Festival Way,
S.oke-on-Trent, Staffordshire, S11 588

VICE CHAIRMAN
Roy Sciorting

In 1988 Roy faunded PCS fuel cards, a new diesel
bunkering division of the Russell Davies Transport
Group. Over the next 15 years Roy built this
business into a major European fuel card company
supplying customers in the transport and fleet
sectors. Roy left PCS fuel cards, now known as
Securicor Fuelserv, in 2002 to set up two new fuel
card reselter operations, Smartdiesel and Infuel. In
March 2013 Roy decided te merge his inLerests as
part of the formation of Radius Payment Solutions.

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER
Lee Fverett

Lee pined the Group in 2010 2s Managing Director
for European Diesel (ard, leading the development
of the Group's international sales activity, As Chief
Operating Off.cer, Lee now holds overall responsibility
for the Group's global fuel card, telecorns and insurance
businesses, spanmung Europe, South-East Asia and
the U.S. Loe has a BA (Hons) degree in Business and
Finance and more than 20 years experience in the fuel
card and payment industry.

Registered Office

Euro Card Centre
Herald Park, Herald Drive,
Crewe, Cheshire, CW1 6EG

‘:22



Corporate Governance

2.1 Directors’' Report

The directors present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of Radius Payment
Solutions Limited for the year ended 31 March 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

A review of the performance of the Group durirg the
year, including principal risks and uncertanbes, key
performance indicators and comments o the siratepic
direction of future developments, 1< given in the Stratepe
Report and Chiel Fxerutive's Statemet,

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Groug involves the provision

of services ta the fieet and logistics secior. Thas includes

the sale of fuel ard related products e o wide range

of payment cards. The o cards include many mojor nil
rampany brands a<well a5 brands sporifically dovelaned by
the Group Quiseurcing services and the provision of vabies
tedematics and telecoms services alsoe make up a ~gmificant
and increasing proportion of the Gronp's business,

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

e Graup recorded profit for the year of £57 2 mllon
(2020 £43 3 million),

The direciors do net recommend o final dividend on the
ordinary shares 2020 all Interim dividends, rorathieg

£ 14 0 million (20200 £ 23 0 miliony were daclared anrd
paid during the vear

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

nformation relatng to the principal nsks and
uncertainttes of the Group has been inclidad withun
the Stratepic Report Lurther information relatng to the
financial risk management objeciives and pohoes, and
tiianciasl eisk expasures of the Group has been inchidan
w1 note 20, Hnanol Instrumerts

EMPLOYEES

As tighlhghted e section 12, the Mrnup provides
emplayees with inforrmation on matiers o concern o
them, consulting them regularly so rhar therr views can
e considerad whon making decisions that are likely 1o
aftect their interests. “mpioyee mvolemert o the Mensn
1S eNCOuraged, 35 achieving 4 comman Awarenass or

rhe part of all emplayses of the fnancial ard coonome
factars affecting the Croun plavs 5 major mnle n 1
performance

The Group recosmses its respansibality {0 ampioy
disabled persons o s Jitable employment and prees £l
and fair considoratior 1o such prrons, indsding, am,
employen who becorres disabled Raving recard 1o thar
particular aptituedes a~d abilities, Where prgetie able
disabled emplryess are traated equally witks 311 Gthor
employees in respect of thair slighilty for 1raiming,
~arear deveiopment znd praomotion,

BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS

Metals of how the Group engages and mioract: with it
customers and supohers arecnelyded incecron 1 6

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

the Group's continuing focuc s on Lsing advaneed
terhnnlogy to mike vehicle and oxpense management
cany and officient 1o differentiare the Groun fromots
oinpetitors

ENERGY AND CARBON REPORTING

-

Nuring the year, the Oroup' UK omissions amounied (o
1727020700 167 3) carbon dinxide fotivatent tonnes
from the combustion of gas and fuel andd 3037 (7020
331 1y tennes from the purchase of electnicny This
reprosents 0.2 and 5 3 (2020: 0.7 and 5.8} tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent per £million of sales revenoe
and adjusted LRBITDA respectively.

The Groap's K aperations consimed 2,144 (A4 (2020
2,160 223 kWh of energy dring the vear through the
combustion of fas, el and the purchase ol clectricity

Data has beesnrcollerted Irom supphien imverees expense
Staims and the Group's Velooy portat wiich hinks
company vehicles 1o fiesi carde and wlantfies bsines,
travpl Nata sor the tronpvs new acaunsitiions have hrer
wclgded fronn the dare ol agrpnsition through e rhe
soar ord Mileage figures fave besn comverted to Bwh
throuch the apphcation ol car specific miles pes gallon
statistn s and poverpeent conversion faernrs for 2001
The kwh fipures weore convertod to carben choside
egrvalent 1onnes using government ~onversion factors
for 2071 bnerpy corsumied by the Group's LK based
assoepates ard jomt ventures and acguisinons made m
the month of Marck 20271 has not beern mirjuded

The Gronposin the process ofhniroducing g number of

future 2nergy efficiency measyres whih are discussed
further i soctine & A

DIRECTORS

Tho dipesiors 2f tha v nrepary who wara nooffice diorpg
the yeer and o te the date of signing the finarasl
LATET SRS WO

= 1] Everett
= WE Hphmes.
« s Oldfeld

= RASOontnn

The Grop has g de qualifnng thard party indemnity
powviaana fon the horofie af te diractar durmg the year

aned e rerr g ar barre g the date nf this Tepory

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
TS ARAl Z000 he Srnnn anppred BA of the b iare capita
A anTraes Glahst Dimeten B s ansidorannn of £ %m

S 2T AR COCY the Uy pany sobd ins rvestmont in Wl
Lrrnpe Senaces Lo gomprating g proin oo disposal of
P b and reahning anh prodesds of 70 7,

D 2T MAy I e Qg acquren] 37% Aaf ke Share capiral
AEMods rous | ana At Wairelose | HE e £5 A hapmip
A B ob cAST o scer gt aoed £ 2 0m A ek o wettle
eyring deb:
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AUDITOR

RSM UK Audit LLP have indicated their willingness

1o be reappointed for another term and appropriate
arrangements have been put in place for thein to be
deemed reappointed as auditor.

STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE TO THE AUDITOR

The directors have confirmed thal, as far as they are
aware, there 1s no retevant audit intormation of which the
auditor is unaware. Each of the directors have confirmed
rhat they have taken all steps that they cught to have
taken as directors, in order t¢ make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that it has
been communicated to the auditor.

By order ot theb‘board

26 August 2021

2.2 Statement of _
Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the
Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial
staternerits for each finandial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare Lhe financial statements
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdorm Accounting Standards
and applicablc law).

Under comparny law the directors must not approve the

financial statements unless they are satistied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the
Cornpany and of the profit or loss of the Group for that year.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are
tequired Lo;

a. Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

b. Make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

¢. State whether applicable UK Accounting Standards
have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

d. Prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Group and the Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsibte for keeping adeguate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Group's and the Company's transactions and disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Group and the Company and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements camply with the Companies
ACt 2006. They are alsa responsible for safeguarding ithe
assets of the Group and the Company and hence for taking
reasunable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF RADIUS PAYMENT SOLUTIONS
LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Radius Payment Solutions Limited (the “parent company’) and
its subsidiaries (the ‘group”) for the year ended 31 March 2021 which comprise consolidated statement of
comprchensive income, consolidated and company statements of financial position, consolidated and
company statements of changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and notes to the financial
statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS
102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:
« give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31
March 2021 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

¢ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice;
* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (1SAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
group and parent company in accordance with the sthical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s or the parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going coneem are described in
the relevant sections of this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information
contained within the annual report. Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

Cur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
maierial misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in
the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

26



Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

e the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for
which the financia statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

» the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable
legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the
strategic report or the direciors’ report,

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
= adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
e the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
retums; or
¢ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
= we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 24, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessaty 10 enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from maierial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concemn and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic altemative but to do so.

Auditor’s respousibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and te issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.




The extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irrcgularitics, including frasd
Irregulanties are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. The objectives of our audit are to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding compliance with laws and regulations that have a
direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, to
perform audit procedures 10 help identify instances of non-compliznce with other laws and regulations that
may have a material cffect on the financial statements, and to respond appropriately 1o wdentified or
suspected norr-compliance with laws and regulations identified during the andit.

In refation to fraud, the objectives of our audit are 10 idenify and asscss the risk of matenal misstatement
of the fancial statements due to fraud, 1o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
assessed risks of material misstatement due to frand through designing amd implementing appropriate
responses and to respond appropizately to fraud or suspected fraud identified during the awdit.

However, it i1s the primary responsibility of manapement, with the oversight of those charged with
govermnance, to ensure that the entity's operations are conducted in accordance with the provisions of kaws
and regulations and lor the prevention and detection of fraud.

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, inchuding fravd, the
group adit engapement team and compoment acditors:

s obtuped an understanding of the nature of the mdustry and sector, inchuding the legal and
regulatory frumeworks that the group mxl pareat company operates in and how the group and
parent company are complying with the legal and repalatory flameworks;

e inquired of management, ard these charged with governance, aboui their own identification and
assessment of the risks of iegularities, including any known actual, suspected or alleped
instances of frand;

* discussed matters about nop-campliance with laws and regulations and how frand might occur
including assessment of how and where the financial statements may be susceptible to fraud.

As a result of these procedures we consider the most significant laws and regulations that have a direct
impact on the financial statements are FRS 102, the Campanies Act 2006 and tax compliance regulations.
We performed audit procedures to detect non—compliances which may have a materinl impact on the
financial statemments which included reviewinyg fmancial statement disclosures, inspecting correspondence
with local tax authorities and evaluating advice received from imternal/external tax advisors.

The most significant laws and regulations that have an indirect impact on the financial statements are those
in relation to employment law and compliance with Financial Conduct Authority and Payment Services
Directive 2 requiranents. We performed andit procedures to inquire of management whether the group is
m complance with these law and regulations and inspected corespondence with icensing and regrulatory
anthorihes.

The group andit engagement team identified the risk of management override of controls as the area where
the financial statements were most susceptible to material misstatement due to frand. Aundit procedures
performed included but were not limited to testing manual joumnal enirics and other adjustments and
evaluating the business rationale in relation to significant, umisnal transactions and transaciions entered
mio outside the nonmal course of business, challenging judgments and estimates applied and associaied
acquisition accounting entries.

All relevaat laws and regulations identified at a Group level and areas susceptible to fraud that couid have
a material effect on the consolidated financial statements were commumicated to component auditors. Any
mstances of non-compliance with laws and regulations identified and comuununicated by a couponent
anditor were considered in our proup andit approach,

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on 1he
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: hitp/fvww freorg uk/anditorsresponsibilities This description
forms part of our auditor’s report.

Et



Use of oor report

This report & made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006. Ounr andit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required fo state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other parpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accopt or assume responsibility to anyone other than the

company and the cormpany”s members as a body. for sur audit werk, for this report, or for the epintons we
have formed.

Jsm we AdE 4P

JONATTIAN LOWE (Senior Statutory Anditor)

For and on behalf of TSM UK AUDIT LLP, Statatory Awditor
Chartered Acoountzs

Festival Way

Stoke-om-Trent

Staffordshire

8Tl 588

26 August 2021



Radius Payment Solutions Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the ycar ended 31 March 2021

Note
2021 2020

£'m £'m
TURNOVER 2,203.9 2,6204
Cost of sales 2,033.4) (2454.1)
GROSS PROFIT 170.5 166.3
Administrative expenses (110.9) (113.7)
Other operating income 2.8 0.6
(OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE
AMORTISATION, DEPRECIATION AND
EXCEPTIONAL COSTS 87.6 842
lAmortisation and depreciation 8 {25.2) (20.7)
I xceptional costs 8 - (10.3)
OPERATING PROFIT 62.4 53.2
Share of operating profit of associates and joint
ventures L6 1.5
PROFIT BEFORE INTEREST AND TAX 64.0 54.7
Interest receivable and similar income 6 0.1 -
Interest payable and similar expenses 7 1) (1.8)
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 62.4 52.9
Taxation 9 (11.1) 9.6)
PROFIT AFTER TAXATION AND PROFIT FOR
THE FINANCIAL YEAR 513 433
PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR IS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of Radius Payment Sohutions Limited 51.4 434
Non-controlling interest ©.1) 0.1)

513 43.3



Radius Payment Solutions Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the vear ended 31 March 2021

PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Exchange differences on retranslation of overseas
subsidiaries

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE
YEAR

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE
YEAR IS ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Owners of Radius Payment Solutions Limited
Non-controlling interest

2021
£'m

51.3

@G.D

48.3
0.1)

48.2

2020
£m

433

45.0




Radius Payment Solutions Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 March 2021

Note
FIXED ASSETS
Goodwill 1i
Other intangible assets 12
Total intangible assets
Tangible assets 13
Investments 14
CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks 16
Debtors 17
Cash at bank and in hand
Investments 14
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 18
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors: Amounts falling due afier more than one year 19
Provisions for Liabilities 24
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Called up share capital 22
Share premium account 22
Profit and loss account 22
Non-controlling interest
TOTAL EQUITY

2021 2020
£'m £m
137.9 131.6
59.7 49.8
197.6 181.4
27.2 223
8.4 112
233.2 2149
9.0 4.0
236.8 194.9
18.3 67.9
5.6 -
269.7 206.8
(274.5) (289.8)
(4.8) (23.0)
228.4 191.9
©0.4) 0.2)
3.8 (6.7)
219.2 185.¢
112.9 1129
106.2 71.9
0.1 0.2
2192 185.0

The financial statements on pages 30 to 70 were approved by the board of directors and authorised for

issue on 26 August 2021 and are signed.!(m its behalf by:

WS Holmes u.f

Director
Company Registration No. 08260702




Radius Payment Soluttons Limited
COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 March 2021

Note
FIXED ASSETS
Investments 14
CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors 17
Investments 14
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 18
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAIL. ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 19
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Called up share capital 22
Share premium account 22
Profit and loss reserve 22
TOTAL EQUITY

The Company’s profit and total comprehensive mcome for the year was £41.4m (2020: £37.8m).

2021 2020
£'m £m
3129 298.5
3129 298.5
3.0 33
13.0 -
16.0 33
(80.7) (81.2)
(64.7) (779)
2482 220.6
(0.4) 0.2)
247.8 2204
112.9 1129
134.9 107.5
2478 2204

The financial statements on pages 30 to 70 were approved by the board of directors and authorised for

issue on 26 August 2021 and are signed on its hehalf by-
WS Hobmes
Director

Company Registration No. 08260702



Radius Payment Solutions Limited
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Share Sharte  Profit and Total Non-
capital  premium loss shareholder's  controlling Total
Note account equity mterest i
£m £'m £'m £'m £m £m

Balance at 1 April 2019 - 1129 498 1627 - 162.7
Profit for the year - 434 434 (0.1} 433
Currency translation differences
on overseas undertalings - - 17 1.7 - 1.7
Total comprehensive income for
the year - - 451 451 (0.1} 450
Transactions with owners:
Dividends 10 - - {23.0) (23.0) - (23.0)
Acquisition of pon-controlling
interest - - - 0.3 03
Total transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners; - - (23.0) (23.0) 0.3 227
BRalance at 31 March 2020 - 1129 e 1848 0.2 1850
Profit for the year - - 514 514 (0.1) 513
Currency translation differences
on overscas undertakings - - 3.1) 3.1 (3.1)
1otal comprehensive income for
the year - - 483 483 .1 482
Transactions with owners:
Dividends 10 (14.0) (14.0) - (14.0)
Total transactions with owpers in
their capacity as owners: - - (14.09 (14.0) (14.0)
Balance at 31 March 2021 - 1129 1062 2191 0.1 2192

34



Radius Payment Solutions Limited

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Note

Balance at 1 April 2019

Profit for the year

Total comprebensive income for
the year

Transactions with owners:
Dividends 10

Total transactions with owners
in their capacity as owners:

Balance 2t 31 March 2020

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Transactions with owners:
Dividends 10

Total transactions with owners
in their capacity 25 owners:

Balance at 31 March 2021

Sharc Sharc Profit and Total
capital premivm Joss account equity
£m £m £'m £'m

- 1129 92.7 205.6

- - 378 378

- - 378 378

- - 23.0 .0

- - (23.0) (23.00

- 1129 .5 4

- - 41.4 414

- 474 114

- (14.0) (14.0)

- (14.0) (14.0)

- 1129 1349 2478




Radius Payment Solutions Limited
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Note Restated
2021 2020
£'m £m
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations 23 73.7 62.4
Income taxes paid (10.3) (18.2)
NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 634 442
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 6 0.1 -
Purchase of intangible assets 12 2.0) (7.5)
Purchase of tangible assets 13 (7.2) (82)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible assets 0.1 0.1
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings (net of cash acquired) 15 (33.9) (24.0)
Acquisition of jeint ventures 14 (3.3) (5.6)
Cash received in relation to prior year acquisition - 0.1
Payment of deferred consideration (0.6) 2.0)
Dividends received from associates and joint ventures 14 12 0.3
NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (45.6) (46.8)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid 7 (1.3) (1.0)
Repayment of lease obligations 23 (L.5) (0.1)
{Repayment)/drawdown of revolving credit facility 19 (57.0) 550
NET CASH (OUTFLOW)/INFLOW FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (59.8) 53.9
NET (DECREASEY INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (42.0) 51.3
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF
YEAR 57.4 6.5
Effect of foreign exchange rate variances (0.6) (0.4)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 24 14.8 574
Relating to:
Cash at bank and in hand 183 67.9
Overdrafis included in creditors 18 (3.5) (10.5)

14.8 574




Radius Payment Solutions Limited
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For the year ended 31 March 2021

GENERAL INFORMATION i o )
Radius Payment Solutions Limited (“the Company™ is a private company Limited by shares and is
rcgistered, domiciled and incorporated in England and Wales.

The registered office of the Company is Euro Card Centre, Herald Park, Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CW1 6EG. The principal place of business is Radius Campus, Emperor Way, Crewe Business Park,
Crewe, Cheshire, CW1 6BD.

The Group consists of the Company and its subsidiaries as detailed in note 14.
The Group’s principal activities and nature of its operations are explained in the Directors” Report.

The Company has issued a parent company guarantee pursuant to Section 479{C) of the Companies Act
2006 for the year on behalf of the subsidiarics registered in the United Kingdom listed below. The parent
guarantee applies to all outstanding liabilities for the subsidiaries at the balance sheet date untii the
obligations have been fulfilled. The subsidiaries have applied the exemption from statutory audit provided
for in Section 479(A) of the Companies Act 2006.

Subsidiaries:

Adam Phones Limited — 02642048

DCP (Crewe) L.td — N1060409

Diesel Card Intemational Limited NI033126
Frontier Telecom Lid - 07244453

Joseph Burley Holdings Limited - 07166833
Joseph W. Burley & Partners (UK) Lid - §3668469
Plant I Limited -- 06114147

Pure Communications UK Limited — 05767043
Radius Connect Limited - 12553628

Radius Fuels Limited (formerly Assero (IB) Limited) — 10887812
Radius Telematics Limited - 09970051

Reliance [P Networks Limited — 04985120
Sure-Track Europe Limited — 04360689

Trinity Maxwell Limited - 07391869

T.5.1. (lrcland) Ltd -- N1034069

UK Telematics Limited - 04203244

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (“FRS 102) and the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006, including the provisions of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate those of the Company and all of its subsidiary
undertakings made up to 31 March each year. Subsidiaries acquired during the year are consolidated using
the purchase method. Their results are incorporated from the date that contrel passes. The cost of a
business combination is the fair value at the acquisition date of the assets given, equity instruments issued
and liabilities incurred or assumed, pius costs directly attribitabie to the business combination. The excess
of the cost of a business combination over the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired is recognised as goodwill. Provision is made for any impairment.



Radius Payment Solutions Limited
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For the year ended 31 March 2021

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION {continued)
The results of associates and joint ventures arc consolidated using the equity method.

All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting
poticies used into line with those used by other members of the Group.

REDUCED DISCLOSURES
The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions in preparing its company only
financial statements, as permitted by FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland:
* Section 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’: Presentation of a statement of cash flow and related
notes and disclosures;
* Section 11 ‘Basic Financial Instruments’ and Section 12 ‘Other Financial Instrument Issues™:
The disclosure requirements of paragraphs 11.42, 11.44, 1145, 1147, 11.48(a)iii),
11.48(a)iv), 11.48(b), 11.48(c), 12.26, 12.27, 12.29(a), 12.29(b) and 12.29A;
+ Section 26 ‘Shared based Payment™: Share based payment arrangements required under FRS
102 paragraphs 26.18(b), 26.19 to 26.21 and 26.23:
+ Section 33 ‘Related Party Disclosures’: Compensation for key management personnel.

FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATIONAL CURRENCIES
The financial statements are presented in pound sterling, which is the functional currency of the Company

and its key operating subsidiaries. The directors belicve the primary economic environment in which the
Group operates is the United Kingdom.

Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded o the nearest whole £0.1m, except where
otherwise indicated.

GOING CONCERN

The Covid-19 pandemic developed rapidly in 2020/21 and actions taken by various governments to
contain the virus have affected economic activity. We have taken a number of measures to monitor and
mitigate the effects of Covid-19 and are continuing to follow the government policies and advice. In
parallel, we will do our utimost to continue our operations in the best and safest way possible without
Jeopardising the health of our people.

The impact of Covid-19 on our business has been one of a number of matters which the directors have
considered in determining the appropriate basis on which to prepare the financial statements. In asscssing
the ability of the Group to continue to operate as a going concern for the foreseeable future, the directors
have also taken into account their experience of the sector, the Group’s curent trading perfonmance and
the cash resources and banking facilities available to the Group.

The directors have concluded that, whilst the measures introduced following the outbreak of the virus had
some short term adverse impact on the business, the Group’s operating madel remaing cobust in the
medium to long term. The directors have considered detailed projections for at least 12 months from the
date of signing the financial statements, together with a longer-term assessment, and are satisfied that the
Group will continue to be profitable, and compliant with all banking covenants, for the foreseeable future.
The directors therefore consider that at the time of approving the financial statements it is wholly
appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concemn basis.



Radius Payment Solutions Limited
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For the year ended 31 March 2021

REPRESENTATION OF PRIOR YEAR COMPARATIVES

The directors have reviewed the presentation of the repayment/drawdown of the revolving credit facility in
the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the prior year. This has resulted in net cash inflow from
operating activities decreasing from £99.2m to £44.2m and net cash from financing activities increasing
from an outflow of £1.1m to an inflow of £53 9m. There is no impact on the net cash movements.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS - GOODWILL

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of net assets acquired. It is
initiaily recognised as ap asset at cost and is subsequenily measured at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is considered to have a finite useful life and is amortised on
a systematic basis over ils expected life, which is between 10 to 20 years.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS - OTHER THAN GOODWILL
Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are recognised at cost and are subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired on business combinations are recognised separately from goodwill at the
acquisition date where it is probably that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the
asset will flow to the entity and the fair value of the asset can be measured reliably; the intangible asset
arises from contractual or other legal rights; and the intangible asset is separately from the entity.

Intangibie assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their useful lives, as follows:

Brands - 10 years
Supplier relationships - 10 vears
Customer relationships - 10 - 15 years
Development costs - 5 years
Intellectual property - 5 years

The directors have chosen the above periods as they believe this is the attrition rate of intangibles based on
historic trading evidence.

Amortisation is revised prospectively for any significant change in useful life or residual value.

Research and development

The Group capitalises development expenditure as an intangible asset when it is able to demonstrate all of
the following:

(a) The technical feasibility of completing the development so the intangible asset will be avaiiabie for use
or sale.

(b} Its intention to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset.

(c) Its ability to use or sell the intangible assct.

(d) How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits.

{¢) The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complcte the development and
to use or sell the intangible asset.

() Its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Capitalised development expenditure is amortised on a straight line basis over its useful life, which is 35
years. The directors consider this useful life to be appropriate because economic benefits are expected to
flow for a mimimum of this period.

Al research expenditure and development expenditure that docs not meet the above conditions is expensed
as incurred.



Radius Payment Solutions Limited
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For the year ended 31 March 2021

TANGIBLE ASSETS
Tangible assets are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost or valuation, net of
depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is recogunised so as to write ofT the cost or valuation of assets to its estimated residual value
on a straight line basis over its expected life, as follows:

Freehold land - no depreciation
Freehold buildings - 2% on cost
Leasehold improvements - 2-19% on cost
Fixtures, fittings and computer cquipment - 10% -33% on cost
Motor vehicles - 25% on cost

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale
proceeds and the carrying value of the asset, and is credited or charged to profit or loss.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term of the lease or the
expected useful economic life.

Land and buildings are accounted for separately even when acquired together.

Assets under construction

Asscts in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees and other directly attributable costs that are necessary to bring the asset to its operating
condition. Depreciation commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

Interests in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost less any aceumulated impairment losses. The investments are assessed for impairment at
each reporting date and any impairment losses or reversals of impairment losses are recognhised
immediately in profit or loss.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. Control is the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of the entity as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Entities in which the Group has a long term interest and shares control under a contractual arrangement are
classified as jointly controlled entities.

An associate is an entity, being neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture, in which the Group holds a long -
term interest and where the Group has significant influence. The Group considers that it has significant
influence where it has the power to participate in the financial and operating decisions of the associate.

IMPAIRMENT OF FIXED ASSETS

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible asset to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extend of the
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.



Radius Payment Solutions Limited
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For the year ended 31 March 2021

IMPAIRMENT OF FIXED ASSETS (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value Tess costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects corrent market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Recognised impairment losses are reversed, if and only if, the reasons for the impairment loss have ceased
to apply. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating wnit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not excecd the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

STOCKS
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell.

At each reporting date, an assessment is made for impairment. Any excess of the carrying amount of stocks
over its estimated sclling price less costs to complete and sell is recognised as an impairment loss in profit
or loss. Reversals of impairment losses are also recognised in profit or loss.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalcents are basic financial assets and include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank
averdrafis. Bank overdrafts are shown in current liabilities.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group has elected to apply the provisions of Section 11 “Basic Financial Instruments’ and Section 12
*Other Financial Instruments Tssues’ of FRS 102 to all of its financial instruments.

Financial instruments are recognised in the Group's Statement of Financial Position when the Group
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, with the net amounts presented in the financial statements, when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or to realise the asset and seftle the liability simultaneously.

Financial assets

Basic financial assets such as trade debtors and amounts due from parent undertakings arc initially
measured al transaction price including transaction costs mcluding transaction costs and are subsoquently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method unless the arrangement constitutes a financing
transactions, where the transaction is measured at the present value of the fufure receipts discounted at a
market rate of interest. Financial assets classified as receivable within one year are not amortised.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those held at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of
impairment at cach reporting end date,



Radius Payment Solutions Limited
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For the ycar ended 31 March 2021

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated fiuture cash flows have been
affected. If an asset is impaired, the impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The
impairment less is recognised in profit or loss.

If there is a decrease in the impairment loss arising from an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, the impairment is reversed. The reversal is such that the current carrying amount dees not
exceed whal the carrying amount would have been, had the impairment not previously been rccognised.
The impairment reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognised only when the contraciual rights to the cash flow from the asset expire or
are settled, or when the Group transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to another party, or if some significant risks and rewards of ownership are retained but control
of the asset has transferred to another party that is able to s¢ll the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third
party.

Classifications of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its labilities. Financial liabilities and equity.

Basic financial liabilities

Basic financial liabidities such as trade creditors and amounts due to group undertakings that are classified
as debt, are initially recognised at tramsaction price unless the arrangement constitutes a financing
transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the future payments discounted
at a market rate of interest. Financial liabilities classificd as payable within one year are not amortised.

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Trade creditors arc obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Amounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less. 1f not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Other financial liabilities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently re-measured to fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised in profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the Group’s contractual obligations expire or are discharged or
cancelled.

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs.
Dividends payable on equity instruments are recogniscd as liabilitics once they are no longer at the
discretion of the Company.



Radius Payment Solutions Limited
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For the year ended 31 March 2021

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group has issued various growth shares (“share-based payments™) to certain employees as an
incentive measure. The directors use the expected method of seitlement of the growth shares to determine
whether these are in substance equity-settled or cash-settled share-based payments.

Equity-settled

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments using the Black-Scholes model. The fair value determined at the grant date
is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on the estimate of shares that will
eventually vest. A comesponding adjustment is made to equity.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency (foreign currencies) are mitially recorded at
the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cumencies are translated ai the rate of exchange
ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary assels and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction or, if the asset or liability is measured at fair value,
the rate when that fair value was determined.

All translation differences arc taken to profit or loss, except to the extent that they relate to gains or {osses
on non-monetary items recognised in other comprehensive income, when the related translation gain or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

Asscts and liabilities of a foreign subsidiary are translated into the Group’s presentational currency at the
rate ruting at the reporting date. Income and expenses of the foreign subsidiary are transiated at the average
rate for the year as the directors consider this to be a reasonable approximation to the rate at the date of the
transaction. Translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity.

TURNOVER

Turnover is recognised at the fair valuc of the consideration received or receivable for goods and services
provided in the normal course of business, and is shown net of VAT and other sales related taxes. The fair
valuc of consideration takes into account trade discounts, settlement discoumts and volume rebates.

When cash inflows are deferred and represent a financing arrangement, the fair value of the consideration
is the present value of the future receipts. The difference between the fair value of the consideration and
the nominal amount received is recognised as interest income,

Sale of goods

Tumover is recognised when it and the associated costs can be measured reliably, future economic benefits
are probable, and the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer. Sales are
invoiced on a varying periodic basis and an accrual is made for sales not yet invoiced at the reporting date
from daily customer activity reports. Sales of goods which relate to the purchase of fuel are recognised
when goods are drawn and legal title has passed and the Group has no continuing managerial involvement
associated with ownership or effective control of the goods sold. This is generally when goods have been
drawn on the customer’s fuel card.

Sale of services

The Group provides various services to its customers such as telematics services which are invoiced on a
varying periodic basis. An accrual is made for services not yet invoiced at the reporting date so that the
income from the service is recognised over the period for which the service has been provided.



Radius Payment Solutions Limited
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For the year ended 31 March 2021

OTHER INCOME

Other operating income

Other operating income meludes the above the line credits for rescarch and development taxation credits,
this treatment is in accordance with HMRC Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC)
scheme requirements.

Other operating income also inchides government grants received in relation to the Coronavirus Job
Retention Scheme.

Guvernmenl grants are recognised at the fair value ot the asset received or receivable when there is a
reasonable assurance that the grant conditions will be met and the grants will be received. A grant that
specifies performance conditions is recognised in income when the performance conditions are met. Where
a grant does not specify performance conditions it is recognised in income when the proceeds are received
or receivable. A grant received before the recognition criteria are satisfied is recognised as a liability.

Interest income
Interest income is accrued on a time apportioned basis, by reference to the principal outstanding at the
effective interest rate.

Dividend income
Dividend income from investments in associates, subsidiaries and joint ventures is recognised when the
Group’s right te receive payment is established.

COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

As permitted by Section 408 Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own statement of
comprehensive income. The profit and total comprehensive income of the Company for the year is shown
on the company statement of financial position.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The costs of short-term: employee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense.

The Group’s holiday year runs to 31 December and is not in line with the reporting date. The cost of any
unused holiday entitlement is recognised in the period in which the employee’s services are received.

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the Group is demonstrably
committed to terminate the employment of an employee or to provide termination benefits.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution plans
The amount charged to profit or loss is the contributions payable in the year. Differences between
contributions payable in the year and contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or

prepayments.



Radius Payment Solutions Limited
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For the year ended 31 March 2021

LEASES

Finance leases ]
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessees. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets at the lower of the assets fair value at the date of
inception and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The related Liability is included in the
balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are treated as consisting of capital and interest
elements. The interest is charged to profit or loss so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability.

Operating leases - lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases, including any lease incentives received, are charged to profit or
loss on a straight line basis aver the term of the relevant lease except where another more systematic basis
is more represcntative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leases asset are consumed.

Operating leases - lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised on a siraight line basis over the lease term.

TAXATION
The tax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax expenses.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all timing differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax
liabilities or other fiture taxable profits. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the timing
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and lLiabilitics in a transaction
that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

The camrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting end date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
Liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the profit and loss account,
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
dealt with in equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes
levied by the same tax authority.




Radius Payment Solutions Limited
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the ycar ended 31 March 2021

1

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND AREAS OF JUDGEMENT

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expeciations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group and Company make estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carmying amounts of assets and liabilities withun the next financial year are discussed below.

The recoverable amount of goodwill, other intangible assets, investments and group balances at a
company level is based on value in use which requires estimates in respect of the allocation of
goodwill to cash generating units, the future cash {lows and an appropriate discount rate. The key
inputs to the value in use calculations are the discount rate and the future earnings growth.

Valuafion exercises were conducted on intangible assets acquired as part of a business
combination based on future cash flows, supplier contracts, customer relationships, assembled
workforce and other relevant factors. The exercises attribute a value to certain intangible assets
with the balancing amount being classified as goodwill.

The directors have established the amortisation policies for intangible fixed assets with reference
to historic customer attrition rates, supplier contracts and other relevant factors.

The Group is deemed to have significant exposure to the risks and rewards associated with its fuel
payment card activities. As such, fuel related revenue is accounted for as principal.
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2 TURNOVER

Analysis of turnover by geographical market is as follows:

United Kingdom
Rest of Europe
Rest of World

Analysis of turnover by category is as follows:

Sale of goods
Sale of services

2021 2020
£'m £'m
1,196.5 1,5134
988.9 1,088.2
18.5 188
2,203.9 2,6204
2021 2020
£'m £m
2,077.5 2,486.9
126.4 133.5
2,203.9 2,620.4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 EMPLOYEES
GROUP COMPANY
The average menthly number of persons 2021 2020 2021 2020
(inclhuding directors) employed during Namber Number  Number Number
the year was;
Head office and management 754 803 4 5
Sales and other 730 687 -
1,484 1,490 4 5
Staff costs for the above persons: GROUP COMPANY
2021 2020 2021 2020
£'m £m £m £m
Wages and salaries 51.5 483 - -
Social security costs 6.4 5.2 - -
Other pension costs (see note 4) 0.9 09 - -
Cost of employee share schemes (note 5) - - - -
58.8 544 - -

The directors of the Company are remunerated by companics which are part of the Radius Payment

Solutions Limited Group.

DIRECTORS

Emoluments

2021 2020

£'m £'m
i9 1.9
1.9 19

The number of directors to whom retirement benefits are accruing under money purchase pension

schemes was 2 (2020: 2).

Directors’ emoluments disclosed include the following payments
made to the highest paid director:

Emoluments

2021 2020
£m £'m
0.7 0.3

0.7 0.8
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4

6

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all qualifying employees in the
United Kingdom.

The pension charges represent contributions payable by the Group and amounted to £0.9m (2020:
£0.9m) during the year. An amount of £0.2m (2020: £0.3m) was outstanding at the year end and is
included in creditors falling due within one year.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

The Group has issued growth shares in Radius Payment Solutions Topco Limited, the ultimate
parent imdertaking, to certain employees that in the event of a liguidity event (i.e. a sale, a listing or
a winding-up), entitle their holders to a proportion of the proceeds.

Holders of the growth shares can only sell their shares in the event of a liquidity event or on leaving
employment after the shares have been held for a minimum period.

The terms and conditions of the growth shares reflect the substance of an equity-settled share-based
payment arrangement. Equity-settled share based payments are measured at fair value at the date of
grant by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted using the Black-Scholes
model. The fair value determined at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the estimate of shares that will eventually vest.

The share-based payment expense for the year in respect of these growth shares was less than £0.1m
(2020: £nil).

INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

2 2020

£'m £'m
Bank and other inierest 0.1 -
6.1 -

INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR EXPENSES

2021 2020

£m £'m
Bank and other interest L0 0.8
Interest payable to group undertakings 0.3 0.2
Share of associates’ and joint ventures’ interest charges 0.4 0.8

1.7 1.8
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8 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is stated after charging/(crediling):

Amortisation of goodwill (note 11)
Amortisation of other intangible assets (note 12)
Depreciation of tangible assets (note 13)
Exceptional costs associated with impairment of ERP system
Research and development expenditure
Research and development tax credit

Exchange losses

{.0ss on disposal of tangible assets

Govemnment grants

Operating lease income

Operating lease rentals: Land and buildings

Fees payable to RSM UK Audit LLP and its associates

Audit services - statutory audit of parent, subsidiaries and
consolidated accounts

2021
£m

11.5
93
4.4

0.2
©.8)
1.7
0.5
22
1.2)

2020

£'m

9.9
7.8
3.0

103
0.2

(0.6)

12

03

©8)
1.8
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9 TAXATION
2021 2020
£'m £'m £'m £m
Current tax:
UK corporation tax charge 63 5.5
Share of associates’ and joint ventures’ tax 0.4 03
F()reign tax 5.7 5.1
Double taxation relief (0.2) {0.5)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 03 0.2
Total current tax 12.5 10.6
Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing
differences (1.4) (1.5)
Effect of changes in tax rates - 0.5
Total deferred tax (1.4) (1.0)
Tax on profit 111 9.6
Factors affecting tax charge for the year: 2021 2020
£'m £'m
The tax assessed for the year is lower (2020: lower) than the average
standard rate of corporation tax in the UK 19% (2020: 19%). The
diffcrences arc explained below:
Profit before tax 62.4 529
Profit multiplied by the average standard rate of corporation tax in the
UK 19% (2020: 19%) 11.9 10.1
Effecis of-
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 33 2.7
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 0.3 0.2
Group relief 3.0 (2.8)
Difference in foreign tax rates (0.5) {0.1)
Double taxation relief 0.2) 0.5
Total tax charge 11.1 9.6

A change to the main rate of corporation tax from 19% to 25% with effect from 1 April 2023 was
announced in the Budget on 3 March 2021 and was enacted on 24 May 2021. Accordingly, the
standard rate of corporation tax in the United Kingdom for the year was 19% (2020 19%) and

deferred tax was provided at a rate of 19%.
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10

11

DIVIDENDS

Ordinary shares:
Dividends paid

2020
£m

23.0

The dividend was settled through intercompany loans and was therefore a non cash movement.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS - GOODWILL

GROUP

Cost

At beginning of year
On acquisitions (note 15)
Carrency translation differences

At end of year

Amortisation

At beginning of year
Amortisation

Currency translation differences

At end of year

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2021

At 31 March 2020

The amortisation of goodwill is included within administrative expenses.

Goodwill

£'m

1852
19.6

(2.2)

202.6

53.6
11.5
(0.4)

64.7

1379

131.6
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12

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Customer Supplier Development  Intellectual
relationships Brands  relationships costs property To,tal
£m £m £'o £'m £m £'m

GROUP
Cost
At beginning of year 50.1 3.6 79 171 59 86.6
Acquired during the 10.9 26 jo 0.3 0.3 176
year (note 15)
Additions 0.1 - - 1.9 - 20
Currency translstion {0.3) - - - 0.1) 0.4
differences
Atcnd of year 60.3 82 199 19.3 6.6 105.8
Amortisation
At begiming of year 20.0 1.6 1.3 19 2.0 36.8
Charged in the year 5.1 0.6 0.9 1.6 1.1 93
At end of ycar 25.1 22 22 135 31 46.1
Carrying amowont
At 31 March 2021 35.7 6.0 87 5.8 35 59.7
At 31 March 2020 30.1 4.0 6.6 5.2 30 498

‘The amortisation charge for the year is recognised within administrative expenses.

Customer relationship intangible assets relate to the value atiributed to existing customer bases
included with acquisitions. Material assets were recognised on the acquisition of Diesel Card Ireland
Limited which are carried at £5.7m (2020: £7.4m) with a remaining amortisation period of 3.2 years
(2020: 4.2 years), the acquisition of UK Telematics Limited which are carried at £2.8m (2020: £3.4m)
with a remaining amortisation period of 5.5 years (2020: 6.5 years) and the acquisition of Adam Phones
Limited which are carried at £4.3m (2020: £4. 9m) with a remaining amortisation period of 7.6 years
(2020 8.6 ycars).

The asscts recognised on the acquisition of Radius Connect Limited are carried at £5.9m with a
remaining amortisation period of 9.5 years with the exception of intellectual property which has a
remaining amortisation period of 4.5 years.

The asscts recognised on the acquisition of T.S.L (Ireland) Ltd are carried at £9.3m with a remaining
amartisation period of 9.9 years with the exception of customer relationships which have g remaintng
amortisation period of 14.9 years.

The assets recognised on the acquisition of Frontier Telecom Ltd are carried at £1.6m with a remaining
amortisation period of 9.9 years.
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13 TANGIBLE ASSETS

Fixtures,
fittings and Assels
Freehold land Leasehold computer Motor under
and buildings improvements equipment vehicles  construction Total
£'m £'m £'m £'m £'m £'m

GROUP
Cost
At beginning of year 9.7 59 141 0.5 0.1 303
Acquired during the 1.1 - 1.6 - - 2.7
year (pote 15)
Additions - - 54 0.1 1.7 72
Disposals - ©n 0.9 ©0.1) - (LD
Transferred - 1.8 - - (1.8} -
Cwrency ranslation - - 0.1) - - 0.1)
differences
At end of ycur 10.8 1.6 20.1 0.3 - 39.0
Depreciation
At beginning of year 0.6 0.3 68 0.3 - 3.0
Charged in the year {1 0.3 39 0.1 - 44
Disposals - - (0.4) (0.1) - (0.5)
Currency translation - - (0.1) - - (0.1}
differences
At end of year 0.7 0.0 10.2 0.3 - (R
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2021 10.1 7.0 9.9 02 - 272
A1 31 March 2020 9.1 56 73 02 0.1 223

Freehold land and buildings includes £1.1m (2020: £1.1m) relating to land, which is not depreciated.
Included within fixtures, fiitings and computer equipment is £5.0m {2020: £3.5m} in relation to assets
provided to customers on an operating lease basis. Depreciation for the year on these assets was £1.3m
{2020: £0.9m).

Included within fixtures, fittings and computer equipment is less than £0.1m (2020: £0.1m) in relation
to assets leased under a finance lease.

The Company does not own any tangible assets.
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14  FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

GROUP
Associated Joint
undertakings ventures Total
£m £'m £m
Share of net assets
At begirming of year 54 58 11.2
Omn acquisition - 33 33
Share of profit/(loss) after tax 038 on 0.7
Dividends paid (0.3) 0.9) (12
Classified as current asset (5.6) - (5.6)
At end of year 0.3 8.1 84
COMPANY
Associated Joint Subsidiary
undertakings ventures undertakings Total
£'m £m £'m £'m
Cost
At beginning of year 13.0 56 287.6 306.2
On acquisition - 33 24.1 274
Classified as current asset (13.0) - - (13.0)
At end of year - 89 311.7 320.6
Provision against investment
At beginning and end of year - - 7.7 1.7
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2021 - 89 304.0 3129
At 31 March 2020 13.0 5.6 279.9 298.5

|

The Company acquired a number of subsidiaries as detailed below in this note. The total consideration
for these acquisitions was £24.4m.

During the year, the directors of the Group and the Company decided to sell its 25% investment in
WEX Europe Services Limited to Wright Express International Limited which owns the remaining
75%. The sale was completed on 21 April 2021. The related asset is presented within current assets in
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and Company Statement of Financial Position.
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14

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (continued)

The Group holds more than 20% of the cquity (and no other share or loan capital) of the following

undertakings:

Associtted undertakings:

WX Europe Services Limited
{notc 28}

Fuelwise Network Limited

Fuclwise Network (Ireland)
Limited

Jointly controlled vries:

Allied Fuels Limited

Churgepoint Europe B.V.

Dunmoran | .imited

Key Telematics UK Lid

Key Telemances {Proprictary)
Limited

Tariffcom Limited

Registered office

Emperor Court Emperor Way,
Crewe Business Park, Crewe,
Cheshire, CW1 68D, England
14 Stable Lane, Coleraine, Co
Londonderry, United Kingdom,
BT52 1DQ

Unit 2, Gray House, Galway
Technology Park, Galway,
Republic of Ireland

Coneygarth House Leases Lane,
Leeming Bar, Northallerton,
Morth Yorkshire, DL7 9FE,
England

Handelsdwarssiraat 6 6095 DJ,
Zevenaar, the Netherlands
Block 2, Galway Financial
Services Centre, Moneenageisha
Road, Galway, H21W1YV,

13 Warren Way, Welwyn,
Hertfordshire, AL6 0DQ

611 The CNff, Tygerfalls,
Bellville, Cape Town, 7530,
South Africa

6 Bon Accord Square,
Aberdecn, Scotland, AB11 6XU

Nature of business

Payment solutions
Fleet and logistics
services

Fleet and logistics
services

Fuel merchant diesel
bunkering service
Electric vehicle services
Service station

Fleet and logistics
services

Fleet and lopistics
services

Telecommunications

Class and
proportion of
ardinary share
holding

Group Company

25% 25%

26% %
26% 0%
50% 0%
50 0%
50% 0%
0%  50%
50% 50%
50% 50%
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14 FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (continued)

Class and
proportion of
Registered office Nature of business ordinary share
holding
Group Company
Subsidiary undertakings:
Adam Phoncs Limited Eurogard Centre, Herald Park, Telecommunications 100%  100%
Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CWI1 6EG, England
Belgian Fuel Card NV 60 Oscar Delghuststraat, 9600, Fleet and logistics 100%  100%
Ronse Belgivm services
Carte Carburant Services SAS 104 Rue Nationale, 59000, Lille, Fleet and logistics 106% 160%
France services
DCP (Crewe) Td 42 Campsie [ndustrial Estate, Property management 100% 0%
Mcl.ean Road, Fglinton,
Londonderry, BT47 3XX
Dicsel Card Service BV TABC 5196, NL-48 14 RA Breda,  Flect and logistics 100% 100%
Netherlands services
Diesel Card [reland Limited Block 2, Galway Financial Fleet and logistics 100%  100%
Services Centre, Moncenageisha SCTVICES
Road, Galway, HOIWIYV
Diesel Card Intematicoal Unit 42 Campsie Real Estate Fleet and logistics 100% 0%
Limited Campsie Industrial Estate, SETVICES
Mclean Road, Eglinton,
Londonderry, BT47 3XX
Dicselkort Scandinavien AB Box 99, 334 22 Anderstorp. Fleet and logistics 100% 160%
Sweden services
Direct Fuels Limited Trinity House, Charleston Road, Dormant 00% 0%
{in liquidation) Ranelagh, Dublin &, DOGCSX4,
Republic of Treland
FEnhanced Vehicle 301 South Bedford Street, Svite 1, Fleet and logistics 100% 0%
Applications L.LC Madisen, Wisconsin, 53703, services
1inited States
European Diescl Card Limited  Furocard Centre, Herald Park, Fleet and logistics 100% (%
Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire, services
CW1 6EG, England
Fronticr Telecom 1.td Euro Card Centre Herald Park, Telecommunications 100%  100%
Herald Prive, Crewe. England.
CW1 6EG
Fuel Card Services Rua Sao Joao de Deus N1, Bloco  Fleet and logistics 100%  100%
International Unipessoal 1.DA A, Loja 1, Quinta da Oliveira, services
2500-885 Caldas da Rainha,
Portugal
Fuel Card Services NV 60 Oscar Delphuststraat, 9600, Fleet and logistics 100% 0%
Ronse Belgium SCrvices
Foel Plus Cards [ imited Trinity House, Charleston Road, Dormant 100% 0%
(in liquidation) Ranelagh, Dublin 6, DO6C8X4,
Republic of Treland
Fuelplus Limited Trinity House. Charleston Road. Dormant 0% 0%

(n liquidation)

Ranelagh, Dublm 6, DO6C8X4,
Republic of Ireland
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Subsidiary undertakings:

Joseph Burley Toldings
Limited

Joscph W. Burley & Partners
{UK) Ltd

Multiple Card Systems A/S

Piant I Limited

Pure Communications UK
Limited

Radius Business Solutions
Limited

Radius Business Solutions
{Malaysia) Sdn Bhd
(previously Radius Fuel Cards
Sdn Bhd)

Radius Business Solutions
(Singapore) Pte Lid
(previously Radius Fuel Cards
Pie Lid)

Radius Connect (Ireland)
Limited

Radius Connect Limited

Radius Fleet Services Inc

Radius Fleet Services Pty Lid

Radius Fuels Limited
(previously Asscro (IB)
Limited)

Radius Payment Solutions
Holdings 5 Limited

14  FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (continued)

Registered office

Euro Card Centre,

Herald Park, Herald Drive,
Crewe,

Cheshire, CW1 6 EG

England

Euro Card Centre, Herald Park,
Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CW1 6IG, England
Valnaesvej 1, 4700 Naestved,
Hjemsted, Naestved, Denmark
Euro Card Centre, Herald Park,
Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CW1 6EG, England

Euro Card Centre, Herald Park,
Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CW1 6EG, England

Euro Card Centre, Herald Park,
Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CW1 6EG, England

Upper Penthouse, Wisma RKT,
No.2, Jalan Raja Abduliah, Off
Jalan Sultanlsmail, 503040 Kuzla
Lumpur, Malaysia

8 Wilkie Road, #03-01, Wilkie
Edge, Singapore, 228095

Block 2, Galway Finaneial
Services Centre, Monecnageisha
Road, Galway, H91WI1YV,
Republic of Ireland

Euro Card Cenire, Herald Park,
Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CW1 6EG, England
Corpuration Trust Center, 1209
COrange Street, Wilmington,
Delaware, 19801

Level 1, 110 Church Street,
Hawthorm, VIC 3122, Australia

Eurocard Centre, Hergld Park,
Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CW1 6RG, England

Eurocard Centre, Herald Park,
Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CW1I 613G, England

Nature of business

Holding

losurance services

Supply of fuel terminals and
associated software
Fleet and logistics services

Telecommunications

Dormant

Flect and logistics services

Fleet and logistics services

Telecommunications

Telecommunications

Fleet and logistics services

Fleet and logistics services

Insurance services

Dormant

Class and

proportion of
ardinary share

holding

Group

82.5%

82.5%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

80%

100%

100%

Comparry

82.5%

0%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

106%

100%

80%

100%

100%
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14 FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (continued)

Class and
proportion of
Registered office Nature of business ordinary share
kolding
Group Company
Subsidiary undertakings:
Radius Telematics Limited Evrocard Centre, Herald Park, Fleet and logistics services  100%  100%
Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CW1 6EG, England
Radtus Telematics 1L1.C 301 South Bedford Street, Suite 1,  Dormant e 0%
Madison, Wisconsin, 53703,
United States
Rainbow Mobile Limited 42 Campsie Industrial Estate, Dormant 100% 0%
Mglean Road, Eglinton,
Londonderry,
BT47 3XX
Rainbow Telecom Limited Block 2, Galway Financial Telecommunications 100% 0%
Services Centre, Monecnageisha
Road, Galway, HO1W1YV,
Republic of Ireland
Reliance IP Netwotks Limited Euro Card Centre, Herald Park, Telecommunications 100% 100%
Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CW1 6EG, England
Retail Card Services Limited Block 2, Galway Financial Outsourcing services 100%  100%
Sepvices Centre, Moneenageisha
Road, Galway, HIW1YV
Servizio Carte Carburanti Italia Viale Abruzzi 94, 20131 Milan, Fleet and logistics services  100%  100%
SRL Italy
Sure-Track Europe Limited Euro Card Centre, Herald Park, Fleet and logistics services  100%  100%
Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CW1 6EG, England
Tankkarten Service GmbH AM Kupfergraben, 4-4a, 10117 Fleet and logistics services  100%  100%
Berlin, Germany
Tarjeta De Servicios Flota Ronda Guglieimo Marconi, 11, Flect and logistics services  100% 100%
Internacional SL Edificio Margoni - Local 2, 46980,
Patemna, Valencia, Spain
Trinity Maxwell Limited Euro Card Centre, Herald Park, Telecommunications I00% 100%
Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CW1 6EG, England
T.S.1. (irefand) Lid 42 Campsie Industrial Estate, Telecommunications 100% 100%
Mclean Road, Eglinton,
Londonderry,
BT47 3XX
UK Fugls Limited Eurocard Centre, Herald Park, Flect and logistics services  100%  100%

Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CW1 6EG, England
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14 FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (continued)

Class and
proportion of
Registered office Nature of business ordinary share
holding
Group Company
Subsidiary undertakings-
UK Telematics Limited Euro Card Centre, Herald Park, Fleet and logistics services  100% 1060%
Herald Drive, Crewe, Cheshire,
CW1 OEG, England
Ushugi Kart Paliwowych sp. ul. Aleja Wyscigowa 4B, Lok. 14,  Fleet and logistics setvices  100%  100%
Z0O. 02-681 Warsaw, Poland
ACQUISITIONS
The Company and Group acquired interests in various companies during the year as folkows:
Undertaxings Date of acquisition / Proportion Holding at 31 March  Note
incorporation acquired 2021
Group Company
Radius Connect Limited 9 April 2020 100% 100% 100% 3
Radius Fleet Services Pty Ltd 10 June 2020 T0% 30% 80% 1
Radius Telematics LLC 9 July 2020 100°% 100% 0% 3
Radius Connect (Ireland) Limited 27 August 2020 100% 100% 100% 3
Chargepoint Europe B.V., 11 November 2020 50% 50% 50% 1
Radius Business Solutions Limited 20 November 2020 100% 100% 1H% 3
Tariffcom Limited 19 January 2021 50% 50% 50% 1
Rainbow Mobile Limited 1 March 2021 100% 100% 0% 2
Rainbow Telecom Limited 1 March 2021 100% 100% 0o 2
TSI (freland) Lid 1 March 2021 100% 100% 100% 1
Frontier Telecom Ltd 23 March 2021 100% 100% 100% 1
Note

1. Acquired by the Company during the year. In respect of Radius Fleet Services Pty Ltd,
the Company acquired 70% of the shares on 10 June 2020 and acquired a further 10% of
the shares on 17 December 2020.

2. Rainbow Mobile Limited and Rainbow Telecom Limited are 100% owned subsidiaries
of T.S.L(Ireland) Ltd.

3. New companies incorporated during the year. In respect of Radius Telematics LLC, the
parent company is Radius Fleet Services Inc., a 100% owned subsidiary of the Company.
On 24 September 2020, Radius Connect Limited acquired the trade and assets of
Telecoms Management Limited Group.
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15 ACQUISITIONS

During the year, the Group acquired several companies, details of these companies are in note 14.

The cost of the acquisitions comprised cash consideration of £37.6m and discounted deferred

consideration of £0.5m, giving 2 total consideration of £38.1m.

Goodwill of £19.6m (note 11), being the difference between the fair value of net assets acquired and

consideration paid, arose from these transactions.

The acquired companies contributed revenue of £8.6m and a profit afler tax of £0.1m for the period
between date of acquisition and the balance sheet date. If the acquisitions of these companies had been
completed on 1 April 2020, the full year contributions would have been revenue of £29.5m and profit

after tax of £2.5m.

Other intangible assets (note 12)
Tangible assets (note 13)

Stocks

Debtors

Cash at bank and in hand

TOTAL ASSETS

Creditors: Amounts falling due
within one year

Creditors: Amounts falling due

after more than one year
Deferred tax (note 21)

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS ACQUIRED

Consideration:
Cash
Deferred

GOODWILL

Fair value

Book value adjustments
£'m £'m
03 173
27 -
0.2 -
4.6 -
3.7 -
11.5 17.3
(6.8) -
(02) -
- (3.3}
(7.0) (3.3}
4.5 14.0

Fair value
£'m

17.6
27
02
4.6
3.7

288

(6.8)
(0.2)
(3.3)
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16 STOCKS
GROUP COMPANY
2021 2020 2021 2020
£'m £m £m £m
Fuel 6.1 2.0 - -
Telematics devices 2.6 1.9 - -
Telecommunications devices 03 0.1 - -
9.0 4.0 - -
17 DEBTORS
GROUP COMPANY
2021 2020 2021 2020
£'m £'m £°'m £m
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors 1334 120.4 - -
Amounts due from parent undertakings 49.7 31.8 23 3.1
Amounts due from related parties 64 70 Q2 0.2
Other debtors 1.3 85 - -
Corporation tax 4.2 - - -
Deferred tax (note 21) 0.5 0.2 - -
Prepayments and accrued income 413 270 - -
236.8 1949 30 33

At 31 March 2021, the Group had £0.2m (2020: £0.2m) of debtors due after more than one year
which are included in the other debtors line above.

Trade debtors are stated net of a provision of £6.0m (2020: £5.8m).
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18 CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year

GROUP COMPANY

2021 2020 2021 2020

£'m £'m £'m £m

Bank overdrafts a5 10.5 - -
Trade creditors 162.5 125.0 - -
Amounts due to group undertakings 2.6 66.3 79.8 79.7
Amounts due to related parties i1.3 6.9 - -
Commodity derivatives (note 20) - 1.5 - -
Corporation tax - 1.1 ~ -
Other taxation and social security costs 144 9.5 - -
Other creditors 2.6 1.2 0.6 0.6
Obligations under finance leases 0.1 0.1 - -
Deferred consideration 0.3 0.8 - 0.7
Accruals and deferred income 70.2 66.9 0.3 0.2
2745 2898 80.7 81.2

The Group operates a cash pooling arrangement with Barclays Bank plc. The net overdrawn
amount at 31 March 2021 was £nil (2020: £nil). In accordance with FRS 102, the cash balances
included within the pool are reported on a gross basis.

Amounts due to group undertakings and related parties are unsecured, non interest bearing and
have fixed repayment terms if they are trading balances and are unsecured, interest bearing and
have no fixed repayment terms if they are loans. Interest is calculated based on the external rate of
borrowing.

19 CREDITORS: Amounts falling due after more than one year

GROUP COMPANY
2021 2020 2021 2020
£'m £m £'m £'m
Deferred consideration 04 0.2 0.4 0.2
0.4 0.2 04 02

BANKING FACILITIES

The Group, through Radius Payment Solutions Bidco Limited, is party to a Senior Facilities
Agreement (dated 23 November 2017) with Barclays Bank plc (as security agent) and five other
banks (HSBC plc, ING Bank NV, The Bank of Ireland, the Royal Bank of Scotland plc and
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation). The banking facilities are secured via a dehenture
creating fixed and floating charges over the business undertaking and assets of Radius Payment
Solutions Limited and each of its material subsidiaries. At 31 March 2021, the cross guarantee
valie was £139.0m (2020: £149.0m).
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CREDITORS: Amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

BANKING FACILITIES (continued)

‘The Senior Facilities Agreement includes provision of a revolving credit facility of £76.0m (2020:
£76.0m) to cover working capital and liquidity commitments. The bank facilities are committed
until 23 November 2024. Al bank borrowings have been disclosed as falling due for repayment
after more than one year. Interest on all bank borrowings is charged at LIBOR plus a margin of
1.25% to 3.5% on the drawn down amount. A commitment fee of 35% of the margin is charged
on the undrawn amount.

In the prior year, as a precautionary measure to protect against any risk of illiquidity in the
banking sector as a result of the emerging Covid-19 crisis, the revolving credit facility was drawn
in full at the year end which resulted in the Group holding cxceptionally high levels of cash. £57m
was repaid during the year.

The Senior Facilities Agreement also includes provision of a £50.0m (2020: £50.0m) bank
guarantee facility, provided by Barclays Bank plc and HSBC plc. Bank guarantees provided by
Barclays Bank plc total €15.1m, £1.6m and DKKO0.2m (2020: €14.8m, £1.6m and DKKO0.2m) and
buank guarantees provided by HSBC ple total £16.1m and less than AUDO. 1m (2020: £16.1m,
€3.0m, $0.1m and less than AUDO.1m). Interest on the bank guarantce facility is charged at a
margin of 1.3% to 2.3% on the drawn down amount. A non-utilisation fee of 35% of the margin is
charged on the undrawn amount. The bank guarantee facility is committed until 23 November
2024.

Bank guarantees are provided by NG Belgié NV for certain suppliers of Belgian Fuel Card NV
up to the value of €0.7m (2020: €0.7m).

Parent guarantecs are provided by Radius Payment Solutions Limited for certain suppliers of the
Group totalling £48.2m and €32.0m (2020: £47.0m and €32.4m).

Limited guarantees are held by Barclays Bank pic in respect of certain overseas companies in
relation to SEPA direct debit limits. The value of the guarantees at 31 March 2021 was €21.7m
(2020: €21.7m).

A £10.0m (2020: £10.0m) guaranice dated 21 September 2019 is provided by Radius Payment
Solutions l.imited in relation to a Multi Option Commercial Facility with Barclays Bank plc. The
facility has unlimited cross guarantee between Diesel Card Ireland Limited, Diesel Card
International Limited, DCP (Crewe) Ltd, European Diesel Card Limited, Retail Card Services
Limited and UK Fuels limited. At 31 March 2021, the cross guarantee value was £nil (2020:
£nil).
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20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The cartying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments held at fair value through profit and
loss and committed at 31 March 2021 were:

2021 2020
£m £m

Financial liabilities:
Commodity derivatives - 1.5

——

The Group occasionally uses commodity derivatives to manage its exposure to price changes on
future transactions and cash flows. The contracts are valued based on ‘mark to market’
information provided by the financial nstitution. The Group does not adopt hedge accounting for
commodity derivatives and, consequently, fair value gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value gains or losses are matched against the item being hedged and are included in
cost of sales.

The Company does not have any commaodity derivatives.

21 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

Deferred tax Hability: GROUP COMPANY
2021 2020 2021 2020
£'m £m £'m £m
At beginning of year 6.7 59 - -
Arising on business combinations
(note 15) 33 19 - -
Credited during the year (1.2) (1.6) - -
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 0.1 - - -
Effect of changes in tax rate - 0.5 - -
Transtation (0.1) - - -
At end of year 38 6.7 - -
Deferred tax (asset): GROUP COMPANY
2021 2020 2021 2020
£'m £m £'m £'m
At beginning of year (0.2) (0.3) - -
(Credited)/charged during the year (0.2) 0.1 - -
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 0.1 - - -

Atend of year (0.5) 0.2} - -
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22

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES (continued)

Deferred tax is made up as follows:

GROUP COMPANY
2021 2020 2021 2020
£'m £'m £'m £m
Deferred tax liabilities 88 6.7 - -
Deferred tax assets (0.5) 0.2) - -
At end of year 33 6.5 - -

The deferred tax asset of £0.5m (2020: £0.2m) is expected to reverse within 12 months and relates
to an excess of tax allowances over depreciation.

The deferred tax liability of £8.8m (2020: £6.7m) is expected to reverse in a period of up to 10
years in relation to timing differences on intangible assets.

SHARE CAPITAL & RESERVES
SHARE CAPITAL
GROUP AND COMPANY
Ordinary
shares of
£0.001 each
Number
Allotted, issued and fully paid:
1 April 2020 26,333,205
31 March 2021 26,333,205

The Ordinary shares rank equally for voting purpeses, dividend rights and distributions rights on a
winding up. The shares are not redeemable.

RESERVES
Share premium
Share premium represents consideration received for shares issued above their nominal value net

of transaction costs.

Profit and loss account
Cumulative profit and loss net of distribution to owners.
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23 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of profit after tax to net cavk generated from Restated
operations 201 2020
£'m £m
Profit after tax 51.3 433
Share of operating profit of associates and joint ventures (1.6) (1.5)
Depreciation of tangible assets 4.4 3.0
Amortisation of goodwill 11.5 99
Amortisation of other intangible assets 93 7.8
impairment of other intangible assets - 10.3
Loss on disposal of tangible assets 0.5 0.3
Interest receivable .10 -
Interest payable 1.7 1.8
Taxation 11.1 9.6
Operating cash inflow before movements in working capital 88.1 845
{Increase)/decrease in stocks (4.8) 1.7
(Increase)/decrease in debtors {40.1) 62.8
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 30.5 (86.6)
Cash generated from operations 73.7 62.4
Obligations
under finance
leases
£m
At | Aprit 2020 0.1
Amounts recognised on business combinations 1.5
Cash flows (1.5
At 31 March 2021 0.1
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24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Atl Currency Cash flow At 31
April translation from March
2020 Cash flow differences  acquisitions 2021
£m £'m £m £'m £'m
Cash at bank and in hand 67.9 (52.7) (0.6) 37 18.3
Bank overdrafis (10.5) 7.0 - - (3.5)
Cash and cash equivalents 574 (45.7) (0.6) 37 14.8
25 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
2021 2020
Salesand  Purchases Net  Sales and Purchases Net
other and other amount other and other amount
income charges owed by income charges owed to
the Group the Group
£'m £m £'m £'m £m £'m
Jointly
controlled
entities and
associates 59.9 (119.4) 4.9) 66.1 (152.9) 0.1

Trading balances outstanding are unsecured, non-interest bearing and will be settled in cash. Loan
balances are unsecured, interest bearing and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or
received. No expense (2020: £nil) has been recognised in the year in respect of bad debts from related

parties.

Certain directors received loans from the Group of less than £0.1m (2020: iess than £0.1m} during the
year. Interest of less than £0.1m (2020: less than £0.1m) was charged on the outstanding loans at a raie
of 3%. The maximum cutstanding balance during the year was less than £0.1m (2020: £0.1m). All
directors’ loans were repaid during the year and the amount outstanding at the year end was £nil

(2020 £nil).

68
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COMMITMENTS

The Group as a lessee:

The total fitture minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

202} 2020

£'m £'m

Amounts due:

Within one year 23 22

Between one: and five years 6.9 7.1

Over five years 8.2 9.0
174 18.3

The Group as a lessor:

The total future minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases arc as follows
which arise from telematics devices leased to customers:

2021 2020
£'m £m

Amormts receivable:
Within one year 0.8 04
Between one and five years 0.9 04
1.7 0.8

The Company has no operating lease commitments.

The Company has agreed to be a guarantor in favour of WEX INC. The guarantee dated March
2014 confirms the Company will pay on demand to the beneficiary a sum equal to the Company’s
proportion of certain obligations under the associated entity arrangement between the companies
relating to WEX Europe Services Limited. This was discharged on 21 April 2021 (note 28).

At 31 March 2021, the Group had committed costs with a total value of £0.2m in relation to the
development and implementation of a new ERP system. The prior year commitment of £1.1m
related to refurbishment works for one of the Group’s offices inh Crewe, UK.



Radius Payment Solutions Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the vear ended 31 March 2021

27

28

ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY AND CONTROLLING PARTY

The immediatc parent undertaking is Radius Payment Solutions Bidco Limited, a company
incorporated in England and Wales and its registered office is Buro Card Centre, Herald Park,
Herald Drive, Crewe, CW 1 6EG.

The directors consider the ultimate parent undertaking to be Radius Payment Solutions Topco
Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales and its registered office is Furo Card
Centre, Herald Park, Herald Drive, Crewe, CW1 6EG.

The directors consider there to be no ultimate controlling party.

Radius Payment Solutions Topeco Limited is the largest group for which consolidated accounts are
prepared. Radius Payment Solutions Limited is the smallest group for which consolidated
accounts are prepared.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 19 April 2021 the Group acquired 85% of the share capital of CanTrack Global Limited for
consideration of £9.8m.

On 21 April 2021 the Company seld its investment in WEX Europe Services Limited, generating a
profit on disposal of £65.1m and realising cash proceeds of £70.7m.

On 2t May 2021 the Group acquired 97% of the share capial of Modus Group LLC and Virtu
Wireless LLC for £5.6m, being £3.6m of cash consideration and £2.0m of cash to settle existing
debt.
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